

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Small Business Strategies for Sustainability Beyond 10 Years

Gabriel E. Warren *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, <u>Management</u> Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons, and the Sustainability Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Gabriel Warren

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Lynn Szostek, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kim Critchlow, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Small Business Strategies for Sustainability Beyond 10 Years

by

Gabriel Emmanuel Warren

MS, Ashford University, 2012

BS, University of Alabama, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2016

Abstract

Small businesses are vital to the health of the United States economy, as they account for approximately 50% of all jobs and 99% of all firms. Historically, there has been a problem with small businesses being able to sustain their operation beyond 10 years. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore the business strategies some small business owners used to sustain their company beyond 10 years of operation. The sample consisted of 3 small business owners who have been in operation for 10 or more years in Birmingham, Alabama. The conceptual framework for this study was the general systems theory. The data were collected from semistructured interviews, profit and loss statements, and cash flow statements. Transcript review and member checking were completed to strengthen credibility and trustworthiness. Based on the methodological triangulation of the data sources collected, 3 emergent themes were identified after completing the 5 stages of data analysis: (a) great customer service, (b) building relationships, and (c) finding your passion. The findings from this study may contribute to social change by providing insights and strategies for small business owners in creating and operating a sustainable business. The data from this study may contribute to increased job creation, improved local communities through tax revenues, and decreased unemployment rates throughout the United States.

Small Business Strategies for Sustainability Beyond 10 Years

by

Gabriel Emmanuel Warren

MS, Ashford University, 2012 BS, University of Alabama, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2016

Dedication

This study is dedicated to every small business person who made the decision to go after their dreams and pursue entrepreneurship. My desire is that the results of this study will help to improve your small business and make it more efficient by the findings. I would also like to dedicate this study to my family: my dad, Andrae Warren Sr.; mom, Clementine Warren; sister, Cynthia Dorsey; sister, Bernadette Warren; brother, Andrae Warren Jr.; brother, Joshua Warren, and brother, Joseph Warren. Lastly, I want to dedicate this study to my second mom, Mary Hunter; dad, Ronald Hunter Sr.; sister-in-law, Simone Hunter; sister-in-law, Latesha Wright; brother-in-law, Ronald Hunter Jr.; and brother-in-law, Tuane Greene. Never stop reaching for your dreams, because it is possible with the support and love of those who care for you the most. I love you guys more and more each day.

Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank God for giving me the ability and the drive to survive this journey of becoming an academic scholar. I would like to thank my wife, Ebony Warren, and our sons, Gabriel Warren II and Christian Warren, for your unfailing love and support as I pursued this journey. Thank you for sacrificing family time so that my dream of becoming an academic scholar could become a reality. Because of each one of you, I continued to push so that we could all celebrate earning this degree together as a family. As I walk across the stage to get my degree, know that you are all walking across with me. To my committee chair, Dr. Lynn Szostek, second committee member, Dr. Tim Truitt, and University Research Reviewer, Dr. Kim Critchlow, I am very thankful for your guidance and leadership that has helped me navigate through this process. To my colleagues, Melvia Scott, Leslie Hollaway, Olivia Miller, Cynthia Young, Candace Brown, Egypt Grandison, Terry Long, and Roxie Mooney, I want to thank you for helping me to stay focused, encouraged, and motivated to finish this process, even when it felt insurmountable. To the entire DBA faculty and staff who helped assist me in every facet of completing this program, I thank you. Dr. Freda Turner, Fred Walker, and Dr. Reggie Taylor, I thank you for the commitment you have to make this program one of the best in the country.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview/Survey Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	5
Definition of Terms	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Overview	12
Small Business Success and Failure	16
Small Business Effects on the Economy	18

External Support System	20
Networking Skills	21
Management Education and Experience	22
Systems Theory	25
Capital and Financial Management	27
Employee Development	30
Operational Processes	33
Geographical Location	34
Transition and Summary	35
Section 2: The Project	37
Purpose Statement	37
Role of the Researcher	37
Participants	39
Research Method and Design	41
Method	41
Research Design	42
Population and Sampling	4
Ethical Research	45
Data Collection	46
Data Collection Instrument	46
Data Collection Technique	48
Data Organization Techniques	49

Data Analysis Technique	50
Reliability and Validity	52
Dependability	52
Credibility	53
Transferability	54
Conformability	54
Transition and Summary	55
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	56
Presentation of the Findings	56
Emergent Theme 1: Great Customer Service	57
Emergent Theme 2: Building Relationships	61
Emergent Theme 3: Finding Your Passion	64
Applications to Professional Practice	70
Implications for Social Change	72
Recommendations for Action	73
Recommendations for Further Research	74
Reflections	75
Conclusion	77
References	79
Appendix A: Interview Protocol and Questions	107
Appendix B: E-mail to Confirm Interview Transcript	109
Appendix C: Recruitment Letter for Study Participants	110

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	12
Table 2. Number of Times Customer Service Mentioned	60
Table 3. Number of Times Building Relationships Mentioned	61
Table 4. Number of Times Participant Mentioned Finding Your Passion	65

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Malchow-Moller, Schjerning, and Sorensen (2011) have agreed that small businesses create the majority of new jobs in the United States. As of 2010, small businesses employed 59% of the U.S. workforce, or 131 million people (U.S. Census Bureau, 2011). Some small businesses have failed within the first 5 years (Plehn-Dujowich, 2010). When averaged across all industries, 75% of small businesses would fail within the first 5 years (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012).

Background of the Problem

A small business in the United States is a company ranging from zero employees up to 1,500 employees (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). An example of a small business in the service industry is one that has fewer than \$5 million in receipts; in an industry such as manufacturing, a small business is defined as having fewer than 500 employees (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). The focus of my study was small businesses in the service industry with fewer than 50 employees. The number of individuals in the United States who have opened small has more than doubled since 1955 (Campbell, Heriot, Jauregui, & Mitchell, 2012). However, 75% of small business segments in the United States close their doors before reaching 10 years of operation, which negatively impacts the economy (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). Some factors that could contribute to small business failures are inadequate planning, lack of strategy, and poor implementation (Phillip, 2011). Risk management and poor decision-making by management are key factors that can lead to increased business failures (Phillip, 2011). Additional research was needed to identify the existing

sustainability strategies of small business owners in the southeastern region of the United States to determine if different strategies are required to sustain a business beyond 10 years (Miles, 2013). Gaining a deeper understanding of business owners in the southeastern United States may help future business leaders make decisions that could aid in the sustainability of their business beyond 10 years of operation. Sustainability is when a business can continue in consecutive years of operation without closing the business (LandLearn NSW, 2010).

Problem Statement

Seventy-five percent of small businesses that operate in the United States fail before reaching 10 years of operation (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). Small businesses in the United States account for more than 67% of net new job creation each year (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). The number of small business failures is a problem because of the impact failing businesses have on the economy through employment and unemployment rates within the United States (Miles, 2013). The general business problem was that some small business owners lack knowledge of what strategies are necessary to ensure sustainability. The specific business problem was that some small business owners lack strategies to sustain their companies beyond 10 years of operation.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the business strategies of some small business owners used to sustain their company beyond 10 years of operation. The target population consisted of three successful small business owners from Birmingham, Alabama, who had demonstrated business sustainability beyond 10

years. The study may have implications for positive social change by helping small businesses to achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years of operation. The contribution to social change may be to reduce failure rates and increase the sustainability of small businesses, thus increasing jobs, increasing sales revenue, increasing tax revenue, and reducing the unemployment rate.

Nature of the Study

A qualitative methodology was appropriate for the research study because the focus was on exploring, in a behavioral or informational context, the factors that could contribute to small business sustainability. Leedy and Ormrod (2013) defined qualitative research as a research methodology addressing a phenomenon that is difficult or impossible to quantify mathematically or with statistical procedures. The underlying assumption of qualitative research is that, by taking a holistic view of philosophies, events, and procedures based on real-world experiences, the qualitative researcher develops a more comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon.

A quantitative study was not appropriate for this study because it seeks to gain data that do not allow for feelings or opinions to be expressed and observed (Yin, 2012). Quantitative data do not provide an opportunity for complete understanding of common themes that have emerged through participants sharing the *how* and *why* behind running a successful small business. Mixed-method approach consists of both qualitative and quantitative research designs, enabling the researcher to seek information needed to solve a problem instead of identifying a problem's cause (Sparkes, 2014). Additionally, there

were no variables to examine or compare regarding the chosen research topic of small business sustainability beyond 10 years of operation.

There are multiple approaches to a qualitative research design, which include (a) phenomenology, (b) case study, (c) ethnography, and (d) narrative (Yin, 2012). A phenomenological design was not appropriate because it is used when a researcher studies the individual world-views and lived experiences of many individuals (Yin, 2012). Additionally, the phenomenological design was not appropriate because the researcher uses this method to look at "unique" experiences of the participants in regards to the phenomena being studied. A case study was appropriate for investigating real-life issues and current phenomena (Yin, 2012). An ethnographic design is appropriate when studying the shared beliefs, behaviors, and experiences of a group over time (Yin, 2012). The ethnographic design was not suitable for this study because I was not seeking to look at the cultural influences that related to the topic. Researchers use a narrative design to identify the life stories and experiences narrated chronologically by individuals (Yin, 2012). A narrative design was not the best for this study because I was not seeking to tell the life stories of the businesses that participated in the study.

A case study was appropriate for this research study because it allowed me as the researcher to ask *how* and *why* questions that focused on a set of events over which I had little to no control (Yin, 2012). The use of the case study research design provided an opportunity to gain in-depth information from business owners who have operated a sustainable small business beyond 10 years. Yin (2012) noted descriptive case studies illustrate events and their specific events. I selected a descriptive qualitative case study to

gain an understanding of strategies small business owners use to achieve sustainability beyond 10 years.

Research Question

The central research question for this study was as follows: What are the business strategies of small business owners who have sustained their businesses beyond 10 years?

Interview/Survey Questions

The following were the open-ended interview questions that addressed the research question:

- 1. What characteristics must a small business owner possess to operate a sustainable business?
- 2. What strategies have contributed to your ability to sustain your business and become profitable for the past 10 years?
- 3. What do you believe is the single most important characteristic a business owner must possess to create a sustainable business?
- 4. What business strategies have you used to run a profitable business?
- 5. Is there anything else you want to share concerning the sustainability of your small business?

Conceptual Framework

Von Bertalanffy (1950) introduced systems theory during a talk at the University of Chicago in 1937 and in a German journal in 1949. Drack (2009) described a system as components or parts of an interactive system, network, organization, or population.

Soojin, Miso, and Joonhwan (2011) noted that systems interact with their environments

and can increasingly procure new properties, resulting in a process of continuous evolution. Rather than considering an entity according to the properties of its individual parts, systems theory focuses on the positioning of the components and their connection into a whole. Von Bertalanffy used systems theory to explore relationships between multiple components, objects, or events. The primary concept of systems theory is *wholeness* (von Bertalanffy, 1972). Systems theory is the discipline of studying interrelationships rather than individual components and patterns of change (Clemens, 2009).

Systems theory further grounded and complimented this study because small business owners have to use multiple processes and skill sets to create a sustainable and profitable business. By looking at how the individual business owners utilized strategies to sustain their business, I was able to determine themes that aid in the sustainability of small business and how those individual themes assist in the wholeness of small business sustainability. Furthermore, systems theory fit this study because I was able to look at the past and present systems and strategies used by individual sustainable small businesses. Having an understanding of how those systems can be duplicated to address the problem for future and existing small businesses is how systems theory applied to the topic of small business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Definition of Terms

Business failure: A business failure is a business having not made a net profit for the previous 2 years and may include business termination (Lussier & Halabi, 2010).

Entrepreneurship: Entrepreneurship involves creating a new business, incorporating the assumption of risk, seeking opportunities, and developing an idea from inception to reality (Zahra & Wright, 2011).

Small business: A small business is a privately held, independent business that can vary in annual revenue or number of employees. Depending upon the industry, small businesses can range in size from zero to 1,500 employees with annual revenue up to \$23 million. In the manufacturing industry, organizations with fewer than 500 employees are small businesses, whereas, in the service industry, small businesses have less than \$5 million in receipts (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012).

Small and medium business enterprises (SMEs): Small and medium business enterprises are businesses with 500 or fewer employees, depending upon the industry. Small and medium sized companies often meet the U.S. Small Business Administration definition of small businesses and include large organizations that do not meet the definition of a large corporation (Barth, Lin, & Yost, 2011).

Sustainability: Sustainability is the ability or capacity for maintenance or for something to sustain itself (LandLearn NSW, 2010). Sustainability in the study is referred to as establishing, growing, and maintaining the business successfully.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

This study included four assumptions. The first assumption was that a qualitative methodology would be an appropriate methodology to explore the strategies required for new and existing small businesses to become sustainable beyond 10 years. Conducting a

qualitative study, I assumed qualitative or mixed methodology would not accurately provide the best results for the topic. The second assumption was that a case study would be an appropriate design for the study. The assumption behind the use of case study design was that conducting face-to-face interviews with multiple business owners would provide more validity to the results of the research. The case study was used as opposed to a phenomenological approach because it involved researching the lived unique experiences of participants regarding the phenomena that was being studied (Yin, 2014). The third assumption was the sample size of small business owners willing to participate in the study would reflect an appropriate cross-sectional sampling of the population for the purpose of saturation and sufficiency (Kisely & Kendall, 2011). The fourth assumption was that the study participants would provide truthful and comprehensive responses to the interview questions and would not intentionally introduce bias.

Limitations

Some limitations existed in this study, as with all research (Thomas, Nelson, & Silverman, 2011). A qualitative study incorporating participant interviews can be limited by potential participant bias and participants' ability to accurately recollect events from their past performance. Participants may have experienced discomfort in disclosing information about the failure or success of their business and may not precisely recollect their experience conducting business. Another limitation was that this study was not comprehensive to include all types of businesses in different regions of the country. This study took place in Birmingham, Alabama, and did not involve interviewing business

owners in other geographical parts of the country. The factors and characteristics that emerged did not have a defined effective period or lifespan.

Delimitations

Delimitations are restrictions or boundaries that researchers impose to focus the scope of a study (Thomas et al., 2011). The first delimitation of the study was the use of small business categories as defined by the U.S. Small Business Administration, based upon annual sales or employee population. The research population consisted of businesses that have been in business for at least 10 years. These were delimitations because expanding the research population to include businesses with greater than 50 employees could change the outcome of the study due to there being different factors required to maintain a larger staff such as increased payroll, training of more employees, and higher operating costs. A second was the lack of consideration of businesses that were younger than 10 years of operation. There could be strategies business owners use to remain sustainable for 5 years that could also be used as a stepping stone for companies seeking to stay in business for 10 years or more.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The research study had many implications that applied directly to small businesses in the United States. Looking at factors such as job creation and unemployment rates, community involvement, and tax revenue for the local economy, each can have an impact on the economy. Business owners may reduce the likelihood of

their failure rates by focusing on the factors uncovered by the participants in the study that have caused them to sustain their company beyond 10 years.

Implications for Social Change

Successful small businesses have an effect on the economy. Small business owners employ 59% of the U.S. population (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014) and create approximately 86% of new jobs each year (Neumark, Wall, & Junfu, 2011). Developing a successful business that sustains beyond 10 years may affect communities by employing people, local communities through taxes, and the U.S. economy through decreased unemployment rates. The study involved exploring the strategies small business owners use in the first 10 years of operations that contribute to the sustainability of the business. As a new business owner, one must know what factors may aid in their failure and success in order to plan accordingly and increase their likelihood of success

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of the literature review is to synthesize and summarize the literature as it relates to a research topic (Rhoades, 2011). An examination of the literature helps scholars and researchers to avoid unintentional duplication of existing research while enhancing professional development and enabling a significant contribution to the existing literature (Rhoades, 2011). Literature reviews enable researchers to contribute to the development of topics that contain further research directions (Seuring & Gold, 2012).

The articles used throughout the literature review and entire doctoral study are listed below. The articles include qualitative and quantitative research to investigate

common themes among research participants. Literature maps determine connections between subjects and highlight gaps in current research by outlining general headings and subheadings (Rahmandoust et al., 2011). The Walden University Library and Google Scholar databases produced valuable information for the literature review. Research databases utilized included ERIC, ProQuest, Business Info Source, and SAGE Journals. The literature gathering process includes the use of peer-reviewed journal articles, books, and websites.

The use of multiple sources verifies the credibility of the 178 articles published from 2010 to 2015 addressed in the doctoral study. Of the total of 178 unique sources referenced in the literature review, 162 (91% of the literature review content) are current, peer-reviewed research articles published from 2011 to 2015. There are 26 total articles published prior to 2011. Twelve sources, comprised of 9 citations from other dissertation findings and three government websites, were not peer reviewed. There is one academic book used in the literature review.

Table 1

Literature Review Source Content

Literature Review Content	Total #	# within 5-year range (2012 – 2016)	% Total peer-reviewed within 5-year range (2012-2016)
Peer-reviewed Journals	165	149	90.3%
Books	1	1	100%
Non-peer reviewed Journals	12	12	100%
Older Articles	0	0	0
Total	178	162	91.0%

The research question and problem statement define the theme of the literature review (Rahmandoust et al., 2011). The research question for this study was this: What are the business strategies of successful small business owners who have sustained businesses beyond 10 years?

Overview

Researchers have used differing definitions of small business failure, resulting in inconsistent findings and inaccurate recommended solutions (Smith, Drumwright, & Gentile, 2010). Craig, Jackson, and Thompson (2009) and Vera and Onji (2010) found the U.S. Small Business Administration listed multiple definitions for small businesses. In several industries, a small business could have annual revenue of \$23 million (Vera & Onji, 2010). In addition to annual income, the small business category ranges from one employee to 1,500 employees (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012).

Small business start-ups have outpaced the number of small business closures each year since 1992; however, the number of small business closures has often been close to the start-up figures (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). According to Plehn-Dujowich (2010), governments including Germany, Japan, Switzerland, and the United States have encouraged the creation of small businesses. President Eisenhower initiated U.S. government support for small businesses in 1953 by signing the Small Business Act (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2012). Eisenhower established the U.S. Small Business Administration to support the growth of small businesses and to provide training, education programs, and loans to aspiring U.S. entrepreneurs (Welbourne & Pardo-del-Val, 2009).

Subsequent to Eisenhower's establishment of the U.S. Small Business

Administration in 1958, Congress enacted the Small Business Investment Act. The Act
was created to provide economic stimulus, expand the support of small businesses, and
encourage long-term business loans and private equity investment to support the
expansion, growth, and modernization of small businesses (U.S. Small Business

Administration, 2012).

Since 1976, the Office of Advocacy has provided an independent voice for small businesses and supported the concerns and views of small businesses before all branches and agencies of the U.S. government, courts, and state governments (Schweikart, 2011). Schweikart and Doti (2010) discovered the establishment of the U.S. Small Business Administration and enactment of subsequent legislation did not alter the high failure rate of small businesses. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore the

strategies required for new businesses to sustain operating beyond the first 10 years in business.

In 2011, 99.7% of the 28 million businesses in the United States were small businesses (Yallapragada & Bhuiyan, 2011). Small businesses have been critical contributors to the U.S. economy (Rolfe, 2011). Small business owners comprised 97.5% of U.S. exporters, paid approximately 51% of U.S. payrolls, and generated more than 65% of new jobs from 1990 to 2010 (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). Small business has served a number of crucial roles in the U.S. economy, including (a) providing income for unemployed and underemployed; (b) employing 66% of minorities; (c) employing 70% of older individuals; (d) employing disabled workers; (e) employing rural workers; (f) filling underserved niches; (g) providing products and services in which large corporations cannot benefit from economies of scale; (h) serving as the primary source of new creative and innovative concepts, products, and services; (i) providing support services to larger corporations; and (j) providing 16.5 times as many patents per employees as large companies (Yallapragada & Bhuiyan, 2011). In 2011, women-owned businesses constituted approximately 40% of small businesses, and 83% of womenowned businesses were in the service and retail sectors (Yallapragada & Bhuiyan, 2011).

Small business failures have been a problem in the United States for 400 years (Schweikart & Doti, 2010). Through the end of the 20th century, the number of small business starts consistently outpaced small business closures (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). During the first decade of the 21st century, the average number of small business starts was similar to the number of small business failures (Politis &

Gabrielsson, 2009). According to Yallapragada and Bhuiyan (2011), approximately 34% of new businesses failed within the first 2 years. When averaged across all industries, about 75% of new business failure occurred within the first 5 years, which could have a devastating effect on the U.S. economy (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). No organizations tracked small business failure rates before the 1950s. The small business failure rates have been consistent from 1950 through 2010, but the number of failed businesses has more than doubled since 1955 due to the continuously increasing number of businesses (Campbell et al., 2012).

Reijonen and Komppula (2010) noted that small business success and failure are subjective concepts. Business peers, bankers, and industry experts may consider entrepreneurs who regard themselves as successful to be failures (Reijonen & Komppula, 2010). Perceptions of small business failure are equally ambiguous. Reasons for small business failure include (a) bankruptcy, (b) involuntary termination forced by creditors, (c) voluntary termination by the owner, (d) elective discontinuance, and (e) death of the owner or entrepreneur (Reijonen & Komppula, 2010).

Lussier and Sonfield (2010) identified inconsistencies in research statistics about business failure due to limitations in data collection methods. The U.S. government has not collected comprehensive data about small business closures (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). Additionally, the government has not collected data for nonbankruptcy small business terminations (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). Valdiserri and Wilson (2010) noted the failure rate of new small businesses in the first 3 years was approximately 90%. There has been a lack of general agreement on the

definition of small business failure; the fact remains that business failure affects families, communities, and the economy.

Existing small business research has been primarily centered on small business success (Hamrouni & Akkari, 2012). There has been limited research on the topic of small business failure. Tan, Fischer, Mitchell, and Phan (2009) reported failure was the focus of only 6% of small business research. Small business is central to new job creation because small businesses grow faster than large corporations grow (Malchow-Moller et al., 2011).

Lussier conducted quantitative research of small businesses to determine the variables that affect the success or failure of new businesses (Lussier & Halabi, 2010; Lussier & Sonfield, 2010). After testing the predictability model in the United States and other countries between 1995 and 2010, Lussier (1995) and Lussier and Halabi (2010) were able to predict the failure of business about 50% of the time. Several variables were consistent predictors of failure across multiple studies; however, the priority and ranking of the variables were not consistent between studies. Lussier and Halabi noted that qualitative research is appropriate to examine small business failures.

Small Business Success and Failure

Small businesses have a significantly higher failure rate than larger corporations (Philip, 2011). Schweikart and Doti (2010) stated how small business failures have been a problem in the United States for the past 400 years. The U.S. Small Business Aministration's definition of small business classifies businesses by industry, with some industries defined by the number of employees and other industries defined by annual

sales (Salas-Fumas & Sanchez-Asin, 2011). Yallapragada and Bhuiyan (2011) defined small business failure in terms of (a) bankruptcy, (b) involuntary termination with a loss to creditors, (c) voluntary termination, (d) failure as an opportunity cost, (e) partnership dispute, (f) legal dispute, (g) personal limitations of owner, (h) elective discontinuance, (i) merger with or acquisition by another firm, and (j) death of the small business owner.

According to the U.S. Small Business Admisnistration 2012, Census Bureau data indicated approximately 50% of new businesses survived between 2 and 5 years. Additionally, U.S. Small Business Administration data indicated that, when averaged across all industries, approximately 75% of new businesses failed within the first 5 years (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). During the economic recession from 2007 to 2009, businesses with fewer than 50 employees experienced a higher rate of job loss and higher failure rates than small and large businesses with more than 50 employees (Malchow-Moller et al., 2011). In 2009, as the economic recession ended, business closures exceeded new business starts by about 20% for the first time in recorded U.S. history (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). Many researchers have looked at small business failure rates, and the findings have varied. One common theme agreed upon by previous scholars who have researched this topic is that the failure rate is high and needs to be further addressed. The differing industries and types of businesses will require different strategies for sustainability, necessitating continued study beyond the scope of this study.

There are a few factors to consider when thinking about the success of a small business. The increase of self-employment contributes to the overall determination of

small business success (Rolfe, 2011). Owners of insolvent small businesses often invest personal assets, borrow from friends and relatives, and reduce their compensation to remain in business (Campbell et al., 2012). Small business owners faced with financial challenges often consider the business successful when it is surviving, but failure is imminent (Campbell et al., 2012).

When averaged across all industries, about 75% of new business failure occurred within the first 5 years, which could have a devastating effect on the U.S. economy (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). No organizations tracked small business failure rates before the 1950s. Additionally, the government has not collected data for nonbankruptcy small business terminations (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). During the economic recession from 2007 to 2009, businesses with fewer than 50 employees experienced a higher rate of job loss and higher failure rates than small and large businesses with more than 50 employees (Malchow-Moller et al., 2011). In 2009, as the economic recession ended, business closures exceeded new business starts by about 20% for the first time in recorded U.S. history (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011).

Small Business Effects on the Economy

The contribution of entrepreneurship to the U.S. economy dates back to the 1700s (Rolfe, 2011). In 2013, the estimated total number of small businesses in the United States was 23 million, which accounted for 54% of all U.S. sales regarding gross domestic product (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). Small business also accounted for more than 86% of new jobs in the United States (Neumark et al., 2011).

Some of the early entrepreneurs such as Henry Ford, J.C. Penny, and H.J. Heinz failed before later succeeding (Schweikart & Doti, 2010). Entrepreneurs such as Sam Walton, Bill Gates, and Steve Jobs experienced various levels of failure before arriving at the degree of success for which they are most known. The number of small businesses has increased by 49% since 1982, which is a result of corporate American companies downsizing (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014).

Small business is central to new job creation because small businesses grow faster than large corporations grow (Malchow-Moller et al., 2011). The U.S. Small Business Administration was founded in 1953, with a mission to aid, assist, support, and protect American small businesses through business counseling, contracts, education, loans, and loan guarantees (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2011). President Franklin D. Roosevelt proposed a variety of programs designed to accelerate economic recovery, reform banking, generate jobs, and support small business (Sutton, 2012). Franchising grew by 900% in the 1950s, which included car dealerships, hotels, restaurants, and other consumer sectors (Wadsworth & Cox, 2011). Each of these industries employed multiple individuals in their communities and resulted in boosting the economy through job growth and consumers spending money to utilize these services. Franchising expanded throughout the 20th century and expanded rapidly in the 1970s, accounting for more than 10% of the U.S. gross national product in 1979 (McCuddy, Eser, & Pinar, 2011).

In 1981, Colorado Governor Richard Lamm encouraged politicians to support the growing small business phenomenon (Groves, Vance, & Choi, 2011). According to Schweikart and Doti (2010), in the 1980s, employers created 20 million new jobs in the

United States, with more than 60% created by small business owners. Loscocco and Bird (2012) reported that employers created 12 million new jobs from 1980 to 1987 while larger businesses eliminated 3 million positions. Most of the new jobs resulted from the rapid expansion of small business in the fast food, computer, fiber optics, cellular phone, and cable television industries. Jasra, Khan, Hunjra, Rechman, and Azam (2011) noted that small businesses induce economic growth and are critical to the U.S. economy. Small businesses are not only a key source of employment, but they also provide significant revenues to taxing bodies (local, state, federal), support local nonprofit groups, and are a source of innovation (Prasad, Tata, & Guo, 2012). Small businesses have accounted for a high percentage of job creation, economic growth, and innovation through competitive advantage (Ngozi, 2012).

External Support System

Researchers agree that external support systems have positive effects on small business entrepreneurs and small business sustainability at all levels (Augusto, Eduardo, & Jorge, 2012; Fielden & Hunt 2011; Patel, Fiet, & Sohl, 2011; Soriano & Castrogiovanni, 2012; Wang & Shapira, 2012). External expertise, such as accountanting or legal advice, is noted as a capability that does not currently exist within the organization but is available elsewhere (Viljamaa, 2011). It is important for a small business owner to recognize when the complex nature of the organization extends beyond their capability, and an external relevant expertise is needed (Keating, Geiger, & McLoughlin, 2013). Chrisman, McMullan, Ring, and Holt, (2012), stated that limitations exist for all business owners, despite education, knowledge, or experience; hence the

need to tap into complementary external assistance when evaluating new ideas or strategies. Chrisman et al. (2012) concluded that there is a positive, curvilinear relationship between small business survival and the time spent in venture start-up groundwork under the guidance of an outside expert.

Some researchers suggest that trust plays a fundamental role in the entrepreneur's decision of whom to confide in when external expertise is required (Bergh, Thorgren, & Wincent, 2011; Welter, 2012). Therefore, if a small business owner does not trust others who have expertise in a skill they do not possess; it could have an impact on the business. The sources of external expertise range from informal advice provided by friends and acquaintances to professional assistance programs (consultants, lawyers, accountants and enterprise support officers) provided by governments, communities, and private organizations (Viljamaa, 2011).

Networking Skills

Networking is a valuable tool for business and relationship development (Cote, 2012). Networking comes in many forms ranging from informal networking from friends and family members to formal networking through community groups, religious organization, and government groups (de Klerk, & Saayman, 2012). Understanding how to build a customer base and a value chain network is critical for a small business to benefit from the start-up effort (Cote, 2012). Struggling entrepreneurs find using networking to secure needed resources and learning is an effective option to support sustainability (Kazakov, 2012). There are operational challenges of running a small business dictate that substantially depends on networking for resources that are typically

not available internally (Gronum, Verrynne, & Kastelle, 2012). Toson (2012) expresses the need for small business owners to develop strong networking skills as a way to increase their chances of sustainability. There is a positive correlation between strategic small business entrepreneur, external networking or association, and business sustainability (Sullivan & Marvel, 2011). As a business owner, there must be a strategy created for the development of networking skills and the ability to build mutually beneficial relationships.

Networking can go beyond the face-to-face encounters that small business owners conduct each day. Social media has given business owners the ability to broaden their networking footprint beyond the geographical location where they have their office building. Some examples of using social media to network can be done through websites such as Facebook, LinkedIn and Google+. Joining industry specific groups and writing a personal blog regarding your business can increase the networking footprint of the small business owner (Schaupp & Bélanger, 2014).

Management Education and Experience

Small business owners can impact the performance of the business in a positive or negative way by the level of skill and expertise they possess (Chinomona, 2013).

Developing proper managerial skills can provide a competitive advantage for a small business owner (Alasadi, & Al Sabbagh, 2015). Failure is negatively reputed in many business organizations, and can be linked to a lack of knowledge or discipline to the business operations (Heinze, 2013). Knowledge of small business failure derives from limited resources, mentors, or formal business education (Ucbasaran, Sheperd, Lockett,

& Lyon, 2012). Heinze (2013) supported the idea that failure is defined in opposition to success. According to McFarland & McConnell (2012), small business owners that lack management and business skills fail at a higher rate than small business owners with strengths in these areas. Some business owners gain their education through the experiences of failures that they go through, and can learn from and make adjustments to improve their future business decisions (Ucbasaran et al., 2012).

Sullivan and Marvel, (2011), acknowledge the significance of knowledge as the primary resource for small business success. Lack of relevant knowledge results in inadequacies referred to as incompetence, inefficiency, and one of the leading causes of small business failure (Sullivan & Marvel, 2011). Other researchers also noted that entrepreneurial knowledge is an important characteristic of the business owner, especially in early venture development (Knockaert, Ucbasaran, Wright, & Clarysse, 2011; Larraneta, Zahra, & Gonzalez, 2012). Through a process called clustering, business owners look to external companies within the same industry that encourages knowledge sharing and collaboration among members of the cluster (Larraneta et al., 2012). An example of companies such as legal services, marketing services, and sales consultants can be a member of the cluster of businesses that provide external expertise in the areas the small business owner is lacking (Larraneta et al., 2012). A lack of relevant knowledge can result in inadequacies referred to as incompetence and inefficiency, being one of the main causes of small business failure (Sullivan & Marvel, 2011). One method to reduce small business failure could be to assist small business owners in the development of leadership skills (Phipps, 2012). Teck-Hong and Yong-Kean (2012), and van Gelderen et

al. (2011) found that business owners with a high level of education and who promoted continuing education throughout their company had a lower risk of failure.

Well-developed and adaptable leadership skills are essential to achieving incremental success and avoid business failure, regardless of the size or the age of the business (Buchan, 2011; McGrath, 2011). Fassin, Rossem, and Buelens (2011) reviewed managers' views of business ethics and corporate social responsibility and noted that small business managers can shape corporate culture and enact values other than profit. The article indicated that strong managerial leadership within organizations is important, as is integrating business ethics and social responsibility in the decision-making process.

Another way to develop skills and education can be from volunteer opportunities that allow the small business owner to expand their skills (Schaupp & Bélanger, 2014). Taking positions as a board member or being a part of a committee for a local community organization can assist in the development of managerial skills needed to keep a business successful. Providing pro bono services can be a way to interact with other industries and to strengthen your network with people who may not need your services directly (Schaupp & Bélanger, 2014). Small business owners can sign up for a mentorship program to further develop their skills. Finding a mentorship program can be identified by going through government organizations such as SCORE, the chamber of commerce, or local nonprofit organizations who seek to help small businesses succeed. Virtual mentoring is available to small business owners through joining groups on sites such as LinkedIn and Facebook. Being a part of a group allows the small business owner to learn and share with other like-minded individuals to build knowledge among each other.

Systems Theory

Dawidowicz (2012) explained that systems thinking involved multiple analyzes of several characteristics of the system, such as, adjoining and interacting systems in the environment, the characteristics involved, and the actions that will occur because of the decisions taken. The idea that organisms, as well as human organizations and societies, are open systems described the concept of systems theory evolved by the German biologists von Bertalanffy (Stacey, 2011). General Systems is that the phenomena of life are present in organisms to uncover the law and order of various systems ('Stell' Kefalas, 2011). Luhmann based his systems theory on the principle of self-referential and self-governing systems (van Leir & Hardjono, 2011). Soojin, Miso, and Joonhwan (2011) noted systems interact with their environments and can increasingly procure new properties, resulting in a process of continuous evolution. Rather than considering an entity according to the properties of its individual parts, systems theory focuses on the positioning of the components and their connection into a whole.

Checkland indicates that systems theory lacks substantive concepts and does not effectively support systems practices (Yan & Yan, 2010). Caldwell (2012) argued that there was a possibility of re-conceptualizing Senge's legacy from a practice theory perspective as a partial fusion of systems thinking and learning theories. Partial fusion lead to the concept of organizational learning as a process of systems-based organizational change According to Buckle Henning and Chen (2012), more is needed to comprehend systems thinking. Fox (2011) described the application of systems theory as

systems analysis. One of the mechanisms of systems analysis is systems thinking (Diez-Roux, 2011).

Tennyson and Sisk (2011) found systems thinking differs from traditional forms of analysis, which are linear and usually focus on breaking a problem into components and studying each part individually. Most organizational problems interrelate in ways that challenge classical causation (Tennyson & Sisk, 2011). The focus of systems thinking is on the relationship between parts and it provides a more accurate picture of the business phenomenon so business owners could work with a system's natural forces to achieve the desired outcome. According to Fox (2011), systems thinking provided management with a valuable tool by expanding the view of how different parts of the system interact and affect other parts of the system. Jonassen (2011) described systems thinking as an approach to developing an understanding of interactions between components and the underlying patterns of behavior. The combination of systems theory and systems thinking could provide an explanatory and predictive value to identify potential problems or conflicts within an organization (von Bertalanffy, 1972). In contrast, to the entire system, components of a system may react differently when viewed individually (Porra & Hirschheim, 2007).

Systems thinking research strategy has been used to focus on problems from an expansive context that includes structures, patterns, variables, and events rather than concentrating on the events in isolation (von Bertalanffy, 1972). Von Bertalanffy (1950) noted that managers make numerous decisions simultaneously within the divisions or departments of an organization. Individually, decisions may appear to benefit the

organization; however, mutual interaction could sabotage the intended outcome and produce unintended results (von Bertalanffy, 2009). The implementation of systems theory could result in decision making that is more effective.

Lussier (1995) recognized that various systems exist within new businesses.

Lussier and Halabi (2010) studied the new business failure prediction model in three countries. The systems feedback loops differed for new businesses in each of the three countries as a result of different regulations and business methods within each country. The results of the study indicated the relationship between the new business failure prediction factors was not consistent in the three countries and failed to predict the success or failure of new businesses (Lussier & Halabi, 2010).

Fractal organization theory, inspired by systems theory, involves shared values in business to create solutions toward continuous improvement (Raye, 2012). Many small business owners find it difficult to balance business operations and manage the financial reports because of limited education-based resources (Kirsten, 2013). Fractal organizational structure's key mechanism for the development of culture, is characterized by self-similarity (Bodunkova & Chernaya, 2012). Past researchers have not come to a single root cause of low business survival rates.

Capital and Financial Management

A common characteristic among small businesses is that they lack proper funding. Kozan and Akdeniz (2014) outlined that small businesses rely heavily on personal or family resources. As a result, the business tends to be persistently in need of money. Similar to living organisms and self-reliance, small businesses must employ the proper

financial management procedures to maintain their business survival (Moeller & Valentinov, 2012). Yallapragada and Bhuiyan (2011) studied small business failure and found that when businesses fail, often it is because of the lack of adequate capital. As a result of the lack of adequate capital, the small businesses may find it difficult to expand growth opportunities that are available in their markets (Yallapragada & Bhuiyan, 2011). Arthur and Hisrich (2011) described many barriers to success for new ventures such as access to capital and effective management.

A small business owner should create a strong financial strategy when seeking to grow and develop a sustainable business (Navis & Glynn, 2011). If seeking outside funding, a small business must seek ways to distinguish themselves from other businesses to persuade others to give funding (Navis & Glynn, 2011). Common ways that small businesses raise capital include acquiring funding from methods such as bootstrapping, financial institutions, angel investors, and venture capitalist. Jones and Jayawarna (2010) described two forms of bootstrapping: raising capital without using banks or equity and gaining resources without the need for capital. Some of the most common ways of bootstrapping includes using credit cards, savings accounts, or retirement accounts to fund the initial operation of the business. If bootstrapping is not a viable option for small business owners, because they do not have personal funds available, they may look at financial institutions as a resource to raise capital.

Financial institutions include businesses such as banks, credit unions, or direct loan companies that specialize in lending money to individuals and businesses. Small business owners try to leverage their relationships with their existing banks to gain

funding from financial institutions through loans (Cole, 2013). Having relationships with multiple financial institutions can be a point of leverage for small business owners seeking to raise money from multiple sources (Cole, 2013). Challenges in the creditworthiness of the small business owner can provide a barrier to raising capital in the startup phase of the business. Angel investors are an option for small business owners seeking to gain funding sources but have a barrier of creditworthiness.

Angel investors can be vital to small businesses during the startup phase of the business. Moore (2011) recommended understanding the importance of identifying investors who can provide long-term funds and noted that people are knowledgeable about the business and not so knowledgeable about potential investors. Small businesses that do not succeed at raising capital from angel investors are unsuccessful due to poor alignment of their pitch and the way angel investors make their business decisions about investing (Moore, 2011). Venture capital is another way to raise money for the startup of a small business.

Venture capital is the most aggressive form of business funding for entrepreneurs. Wealthy family foundations, such as the Ford Foundation, funded the early days of private equity investing in the United States (James, 2010). Investors seeking to provide funding through venture capital resources date back to World War II. Investing using venture capital involves companies providing equity capital for funding startup or growth firms with the goal of maximizing the financial return. The use of a venture capital strategy requires the small business owner to identify an issue and provide solutions that

investors are willing to give financial backing. The use of venture capital as a way to raise capital for a business can be a difficult task for a small business owner.

Employee Development

Employee development can be vital to the success of a business (Shuck & Herd, 2012; Bryant & Allen, 2013). A business owner has the responsibility of making sure a culture of employee training and development is established throughout the business (Gilbreath, 2012; Braun, Avital, & Martz, 2012). Business owners and managers need to look for ways to develop employees through giving them challenging projects that allow their skills and competencies to grow (Beattie, Kim, Hagen, Egan, Ellinger, & Hamlin, 2014; Sawa & Swift, 2013). If the development of employees is not a focus of the owners, the business runs the risk of being able to retain good employees that could help the business succeed. Employee career development opportunities and coaching can be one of the most important factors in retaining employees in these organizations (Kim, Egan, Kim, & Kim, 2013). In a small business setting, owners can engage more with employees and offer specialized training in areas that are specific to the business they operate in, which can increase the amount of time it takes to develop employees through training in a larger organization (Chinomona, 2013).

Unlike larger organizations that can spend money hiring corporate training companies to come in and train the staff on a specific skill, small business owners use informal skills development methods through direct exposure and on the job experiences (Chinomona, 2013). The development of employees should be an investment small business owners should not hesitate to make. Employee development can be linked to

increased productivity and profitability (Chinomona, 2013). It is also important for the small business owner to invest in their skill development as a way to be able to train their employees through on the job training.

Having the right leadership style as a small business owner can have a positive impact on the development of the employees who work for the business (Choudhary, Akhtar, & Zaheer, 2013; Sarti, 2014). There are two leadership styles Sarti (2014) notes that help keep employees motivated in the roles. The first leadership style is named participative leadership, which encourages equal contribution and opinions from all team members of the business in the strategic planning aspects of the business (Sarti, 2014). In a small business context, the owner who possesses this style can reduce the amount of stress they place on themselves, because of the involvement of all members of the team. A second leadership style Sarti (2014) noted is instrumental leadership, which focuses more on setting expectations, establishing procedures, and delegating tasks to different members of the team. As a small business owner, instrumental leadership can provide more clarity for the employees and the owner, which could aid in increased employee motivation and job satisfaction (Sarti, 2014). If employees are more satisfied and feel as if they are part of the decision-making process for the business, they are more willing to be trained and developed on skills they lack (Sarti, 2014).

In small businesses, there are some barriers to employee development that arise when factors such as lack of financial resources or availability of staff (Bandura, & Lyons, 2015). If a business has a limited number of employees, sending one or two employees away for an extended period for training is costly and may hinder

productivity. A small business can choose to utilize computer aided training as a way to develop employees without having them attend external training seminars (Bandura & Lyons, 2015). Another barrier for small businesses is having the owner personally train and mentor new employees on their roles. As the small business grows, the owner of the small business will be less available to give personalized mentoring and training to every new employee hired (Bandura & Lyons, 2015; Smothers, 2011). If the training needs vary across the team, a small business owner will not be able to train everyone at the same time; this barrier could decrease overall productivity of the business until each employee is trained (Vroom, 2013).

The third barrier to employee development is the financial requirement of hiring an external consultant or training company to come in and train new employees (Bandura & Lyons, 2015). For a small business, the financial commitment required to retain a training company to assist with employee development can be expensive and reduce profitability. The fourth barrier to employee development is the lack of knowledge or expertise of the small business owner in the area of need that the employee may have (Bandura & Lyons, 2015). If the owner of the business needs training in a specific area such as human resources or computer skills, they are less likely to be able to train new employees on these skills. To be a successful small business owner, there must be a balance of understanding how to train properly new and existing employees without putting a strain on the productivity of the business (Bandura & Lyons, 2015).

Operational Processes

Dunn and Liang (2011); Ivanov (2011); and van Gelderen, Thurik, and Patel (2011) theorized that 95% of small business failure is attributable to lack of business planning. Ennis and Tucci (2011) provided insight into how the lack of internal auditing systems by entrepreneurs is a cause for small business failure. Auditing that focuses on the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of a business can enhance the entrepreneur as well as the business (Ennis and Tucci, 2011). Small business failure can be traced back to a lack of the owner successfully creating business processes and planning (Christofi, Nunes, Chao Peng, & Lin, 2013; Cragg, Mills, & Suraweera, 2013). Having a strategic plan or business plan that is inclusive of a succession plan is an important aspect of the survival of a business. If a small business does not have a succession plan in their long-term growth strategy, it can increase their risk of failure by not getting external support. The perceived higher risk is large because should something happen to the entrepreneur, business survival is limited as successors will not have the intended business destination (Lam, 2011).

Small business operations range from sales processes, marketing, and the recruiting and training of new employees. Marketing can be an area where small businesses lack the operational structure that can lead to greater success. Bakeman and Hanson, (2012) mentioned that small businesses lack marketing strategies that involve social media integration. Small businesses cannot compete with larger organizations through conducting large media campaigns such as radio or television (Winterberg, 2013). Social media can be a way to equal the marketing playing field because

advertising through social media is free or inexpensive for any size business (Eisenberg, Johnson, & Pieterson, 2015). Vernuccio (2014) noted that social media is an overlooked tool that can create business leads, an impactful company brand, and reduce traditional marketing costs. Naylor, Lamberton, and West (2012) provided statistical evidence that stated by 2011, approximately 83% of Fortune 500 companies were using some form of social media to connect with consumers.

Geographical Location

Cardon, Stevens, and Potter (2011) sought to identify the causes of entrepreneurial failure by reviewing reports from 1999 to 2001 from seven major U.S. newspapers, which provided 389 accounts of failure. They found that the cause of entrepreneurial failure depended on the geographical area where it occurred (Cardon et al., 2011). If a small business owner is seeking to create a business, they must engage in conducting research about the types of businesses that are currently operating in the geographical location that they desire to start their business (Robinson, 2011). Subscribing to local magazines, talking to existing business owners, and visiting the businesses in the area will provide important data on if there is enough room for a new business to enter the marketplace in that geographic location (Robinson, 2011).

Berg (2014) argued that location of business does not solely determine success or failure of the business. Business owners occasionally make the assumption that because there are a limited number of businesses in a specific area, then that location must not be a great place to put a business. Berg noted that business owners who use this approach do not take all the necessary time required to do research and see if placing a business in a

specific location will yield to be profitable. If a small business decides not to do business in a specific location based on if other businesses are present, they could be missing out on untapped business opportunities (Berg, 2014).

Additionally, research shows that the location of a business is sometimes discovered by the owner when they are doing activities not related to their business (Berg, 2014). If a business owner is riding through a new city, enjoying time away from their business, or spending time with family members, a location of a new business or expansion of the existing business could attract the owner. Small business owners occasionally may use a model of imitation when deciding on a location of their business (Berg, 2014). Imitation happens when a business owner decides to place their business in a location where there are other businesses in the same location, with the assumption that the location will yield profitable for the new business (Berg, 2014). Governmental influence can aid in the decision of a small business to start a business in a specific geographical location. Berg (2014) noted that tax incentives offered by the local government in his research area influenced the business owner to place their business in the location. As a small business owner, gaining tax advantages can aid in the success and sustainability of a small business in comparison to a small business that is not receiving the same tax incentives.

Transition and Summary

The existing body of literature on small business sustainability is both diverse and conflicting. In Section 1, the literature led to findings that revealed the need for small business owners in the U.S. to identify strategies to improve their business sustainability

beyond 10 years. The review of literature included articles relevant to the topic, including descriptions of common themes that have aided businesses in reducing failure rates.

Section 2 contains a detailed description of the research methodology and design, population and sampling, data collection instruments, and techniques used in the study. The chapter includes a detailed dialogue on data collection and organization techniques, data analysis techniques, reliability, and validity

Section 3 includes the results of the study, a detailed commentary of the evidence, and ties to the conceptual framework as they relate to the research question and support the study conclusions. Section 3 ends with a discussion about implications for social change, researcher recommendations, and researcher reflections.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the business strategies of successful small business owners who have sustained their business beyond 10 years of operation. The target population consisted of three successful small business owners located in Birmingham, Alabama, who had demonstrated business sustainability beyond 10 years. The study may have implications for positive social change by helping small businesses achieve business sustainability beyond 10 years of operation. The contribution to social change will be to reduce failure rates and increase the sustainability of small businesses, thus increasing jobs, increasing sales revenue, increasing tax revenue, and reducing the unemployment rate.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary instrument for data collection in the research process by conducting semistructured interviews with each of the study participants face-to-face. My relationship with the topic of small business sustainability derives from me being an emerging small business owner since 2007. I have experienced the various obstacles that cause businesses to fail before the 10 years of operation benchmark, and I was seeking to understand what methods I could use that could increase my likelihood, as well as that of other individuals, of sustainability beyond 10 years. Furthermore, I have other colleagues and acquaintances that have started small businesses and are seeking ways to sustain their businesses.

Each participant in the study needed to receive respect, time, and opportunity to decide to enter a study or not to participate (Department of Health, Education, & Welfare, 1979). Each participant in the study did so voluntarily. I gave prospective participants the information they needed to determine whether they desired to enter into the research study on the consent forms. Each person was treated in an ethical manner, not only by me respecting their decisions and protecting them from harm, but also by making efforts to secure their well-being (Department of Health, Education, & Welfare, 1979). I was and will be the only person with identifiable information from the participants such as their name and organization information (Department of Health, Education, & Welfare, 1979). By keeping identifiable information secure, through following the Belmont protocol, I aimed to provide trustworthiness to the participants, thereby maximizing the benefits of participating in the study and minimize potential perceptions of harm of those who participated (Department of Health, Education, & Welfare, 1979).

During the research process, I kept a journal to help manage, determine, and reduce any potential bias that could affect the research data collection and data analysis (Izuma & Adolphs, 2011; Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Tufford and Newman (2012) recommended implementing a journaling process to ensure exclusion of personal bias, morals, or beliefs when conducting qualitative research. I made sure to ask open-ended questions and not questions that led the interviewee in any particular direction. Each interview was semistructured with the intent of allowing the interviewee an opportunity to share as much information about the questions asked without being restricted.

Conducting interviews with participants worked well with this study because it allowed participants to share in-depth information pertaining to their experiences and viewpoint on a particular topic (Rowley, 2012). One central research question along with several semistructured, open-ended interview questions guided the research (Erlingsson & Brysiewicz, 2013). Qualitative researchers have the freedom to choose their research method, the way they conduct their interviews, and the techniques they use to analyze the data (Bansal & Corley, 2012). As opposed to doing an empirical analysis of numbers through a survey, conducting interviews provides an opportunity to see nonverbal communication as the participants answer each question. I was responsible for transcribing each interview, analyzing the data collected, and compiling the results. An interview protocol was established (Appendix A) to ensure that, in my role as the research instrument, I followed the same protocol with each participant. By me following the steps in the interview protocol, it helped me to make sure I did not skip or miss any important parts in the interview process. Qualitative researchers rely on interview protocols as a way to achieve commonality and add to the consistency and reliability of the research (Foley & O'Conner, 2013).

Participants

The study included a purposive sample of three participants who were small business owners who had been in operation beyond 10 years. Purposeful sampling methods target a population that meets certain criteria established by the researcher to gain a sample of participants in the phenomenon (Suri, 2011). All participants must have had (a) been in business in Birmingham, Alabama, for at least 10 years or more; (b) been

at least 18 years old in age; and (c) had fewer than 50 employees. In purposeful sampling, researchers use their judgment to select participants based on the study criteria (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). The participants of the study received an invitation to participate presented in an initial e-mail message. There was also a follow-up call to explain the research and ask for participation. The participants who agreed to participate in the study received an informed consent form presented in a subsequent e-mail and asked to reply to the e-mail by indicating their consent to participate. The participants each were interviewed at their office or mutually agreed upon location for a face-to-face interview. The participants' office or mutually agreed upon location was used to help build trust with each business owner. Trust is a key component in making sure the participants is able to complete a successful interview (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The strategy used for getting participants consisted of visiting the local Chamber of Commerce to get a list of small businesses in the Birmingham, Alabama area. Tirgari (2012) recommended that when a researcher interviews one participant, the researcher should ask the participant if he or she can recommend other candidates whom he or she feels will be willing to participate, resulting in purposive sampling.

After completing the interviews, I transcribed the digital recording of each interview into a Microsoft Word document. The study did not involve collecting any personal identification information from the study participants. I e-mailed the complete transcribed interview to each of the participants for their review. After receiving responses from the participants, I made the requested corrections, if needed, to the data and uploaded the transcribed participant interviews into the NVivo 10 software program.

After developing the initial codes, I performed axial coding and theoretical coding to identify emergent themes and relationships before reassembling the data around the central theme.

Research Method and Design

There are three choices of research methods: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Ostlund, Kidd, Wengstrom, & Rowa-Dewar, 2011). This study involved investigating a phenomenon and presenting data through the lived experiences of the participants. Exploring the different aspects of individuals' perspectives helped to determine how individuals interact with their environment. The research method for this study was qualitative, with an aim to gain an understanding of the perspectives of small business owners who have survived beyond 10 years of successful operation.

Method

A qualitative research method was the most valuable research method for this research, in order to explore the in-depth experiences of the participants (Davis, 2013; Moutakas, 1994). Qualitative methods, unlike quantitative and mixed methods, allowed me to explore the lived experiences of small business owners in greater depth, through the use of interviews, to understand the phenomenon of how to build a sustainable business beyond 10 years of operation. Qualitative methods permit researchers to ask questions of the participants who have lived experiences pertaining to what, where, and how the phenomenon under study affects them (Barratt, Choi, & Li, 2011). Qualitative research methods are used to gather results that can apply to other contexts without inferences, which allows the researcher's results to apply to other types of the

phenomenon (Hays & Woods, 2011).

Quantitative research involves testing and verifying an already comprehended hypothesis while qualitative research involves the understanding of lived experiences of a particular phenomenon (Borrego, Douglas, & Amelink, 2011). Quantitative methods require the use of numerical data and statistical analysis to examine correlations between two variables, independent and dependent, which was not the purpose of this research project (Barratt et al., 2011). The use of a quantitative method quantifies the results and highlights problems based on the data provided; however, it cannot offer the researcher an understanding of detailed articulation of personal experiences (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013).

Mixed-method research approaches focus on the exploration of problems and solutions instead of the understanding the cause of problems (Feilzer, 2010). Mixed methods include a quantitative component. The purpose of the research study was to explore the business strategies of successful small business owners who have sustained businesses beyond 10 years. Mixed-method approaches consist of the researcher using a combination of deductive and inductive methods (Bansal & Corely, 2012). The objective of this study was not to test a theory or hypothesis but to gain a greater understanding of the factors small business owners used to aid in the survival of the business they have owned for at least 10 years or more.

Research Design

The research design used was a descriptive multiple case study design, which was used to conduct semistructured, face-to-face interviews with each participant. A case

study design also gave me the opportunity to utilize company documents as a data collection tool. Leedy and Ormrod (2013) noted that research design involves exploring research questions and drawing conclusions to prepare a model for others to utilize.

The main designs that make up qualitative research are phenomenological, ethnography, and case study (Petty, Thomas, & Stew, 2012). In a phenomenological study, the researcher seeks to understand "unique" lived experiences of individuals (Englander, 2012). Researchers in phenomenological studies are interested in gaining insights into the experiences, attitudes, behaviors, processes, and opinions of the individuals being studied (Rowley, 2012). A phenomenological study was not appropriate for this research topic because I wanted to know why and how participants function in their environment. Although I conducted interviews as part of my case study, I also used company documents, such as profit and loss statements and cash flow statements to gain more in-depth understanding of the strategies used to achieve sustainability.

An ethnographic research design explores the daily lives, behaviors, and activities of a culture or community over a specific period (Pritchard, 2011). Because I did not look at each participant for extended periods of time to explore data, an ethnographic research design was not appropriate. New participants were interviewed until saturation was achieved through the use of semistructured interviews. Kolb (2012) and Walker (2012) suggested that data saturation results occur when no new information was obtained that was not previously noted.

Population and Sampling

Verner and Abdullah (2012) stated that a case study includes an in-depth exploration of a small number of cases or a single case. This study involved a purposeful sample consisting of three participants who owned successful small businesses in operation beyond 10 years in Birmingham, Alabama. Purposeful sampling methods target a population that meets certain criteria established by the researcher to gain a sample of participants in the phenomenon (Suri, 2011). In purposeful sampling, researchers use their judgment to select participants based on the study criteria (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Participants were interviewed until saturation was reached. I knew when saturation was complete when I began to uncover the same common themes from different participants in the study.

The participants chosen for this study had to meet the criteria of owning a small business located in Birmingham, Alabama. The owner of the business had to be the original owner who started the business. Additionally, business owners must have been in operation for at least 10 years. The business must have no more than 50 employees. Finally, the business must operate from a brick-and-mortar office space and cannot operate from a residential home office.

The participants of the study received an invitation to participate presented in an e-mail message. There was a follow-up call to explain the research and ask for participation. The participants who agreed to participate in the study received an informed consent form presented in a subsequent e-mail and were asked to reply to the e-mail by indicating their consent to participate. Each interview was conducted in a setting

most comfortable for the participant and was agreed upon before the face-to-face interview being completed. Initial interviews lasted approximately 45 minutes and were audio recorded, and I took notes in a journal.

Ethical Research

Jones, Edwards, and While (2011) posited the treatment of research participants is a critical concern that must be at the forefront of all research decisions and considerations. Prior to contacting potential participants, I applied for and received approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board (Approval No. 11-25-15-0246336). To remain ethical with the completion of the research, there was an informed consent form signed by each participant. An e-mail was sent to each participant that included the informed consent form, an outline of the nature of the study, and asked for the participation of the small business owner. I also included in the consent form that participation was 100% voluntary and at any point in the process, a participant could withdraw from being a participant without penalty and no further obligation to the research. To withdraw from participating in the study, a participant could have called me or provided a statement in writing informing me of their decision to no longer participate in the study. There was no form of compensation or incentives offered for participation in the study.

Steps to make sure participants were ethically protected included renaming each participant by labeling them as participants and assigning them a number (i.e., Participant #1 or Participant #2) instead of the name of the business or individual. To protect the confidentiality of the participants, all information about the participants will remain

secured in a locked filing cabinet for 5 years and then be destroyed (Luo, 2011). Mitchell and Wellings (2013) noted that the researcher should be the only one to have access to the participant's personal information. There was no use of names of the individuals or businesses who participated in the study.

Data Collection

Data Collection Instrument

Qualitative researchers can often serve as the instrument for a study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). As the researcher, I was the primary instrument used in the data collection process. Data collection in qualitative research can involve direct interactions with an individual or interaction in a group setting (Petty et al., 2012). Some of the secondary sources for collecting qualitative data are focus groups, observations, individual interviews, and documentation (Petty et al., 2012). Data for case studies have six origins and must be collected from at least two of the following six available sources; (a) archival records, (b) direct observations, (c) documentation, (d) interviews, (e) participant-observation (i.e. site visits), or (f) physical artifacts (Yin, 2012). I collected data through semistructured, face to face interviews with three successful small business owners who have been operating in Birmingham, Alabama for at least 10 years. In addition to the interviews, I asked participants to provide documentation of their profit and loss statements and cash flow statements as a data collection instrument.

I developed and followed an interview protocol (Appendix A) to guide my data collection. I followed a case study protocol, which was a key for a multiple case study research design and aided me in keeping the focus on my topic while assisting with the

reliability (Yin, 2014). A case study protocol consists of (a) an overview of the case study, (b) data collection procedures, (c) data collection procedures, and (d) a guide for the case study report (Yin, 2014). I asked interview questions that were opened ended to allow for elaboration by the participants, enabling me to take detailed notes. Ocak (2011) determined that interviews are a useful approach for collecting data from participants regarding a phenomenon. Each interview was audio recorded, with permission of the participants; the business owners interviewed will have been in business for 10 or more years of operation. Each initial interview lasted approximately 45 minutes long. The use of NViVo software was used to record and transcribe each of the interviews.

To enhance the reliability and validity of the data collected, I made sure that once I conducted the interviews with participants, I re-listened to the audio recording and reviewed my journal notes. An e-mail was sent to each participant after I transcribed the data and results of the interview. The purpose of the follow-up e-mail was to share my interpretation of the interview with the participants for validation. This process is called member checking, which ensured that my findings were in alignment with their intentions (See Appendix B). Member checking is when participant validation techniques are used for improving the accuracy and reliability of a study (Mero-Jaffe, 2011). Hudson et al. (2014) recommended that researchers conduct member checking to verify the accuracy of the information obtained from study participants. Greater validity was gained through methodological triangulation came from me conducting interview questions with participants, direct observations, and reviewing company documents. Verner and

Abdullah (2012) stated that methodological triangulation increases the assurance of the validity of case study findings.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection techniques for this study were interviews and company documentation review. In the case study design, the researcher is responsible for determining the most effective technique to gather data from the study participants (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). The semistructured interview method was appropriate for the study and provided me with the flexibility to encourage participants to elaborate on their responses or to expand the interview into a new topic introduced by the participants through their responses (Landgren & Hallström, 2011). Interviews are effective and an important data collection technique that plays a principal role in the data collection of qualitative research (Moustakas, 1994). Company documentation that I reviewed was the profit and loss statements and cash flow statements.

The advantage of using interviews as the data collection technique was that it allowed me to gain a deeper understanding of the strategies of the small business owners that could not be understood by conducting another technique such as a survey. I was able to gain lots of insight into the minds of the small business owners; I was also able to observe the body language of the participants and ask follow-up questions to gain more clarity regarding a particular response. The advantage of reviewing company documentation is that it provided me with more accurate data that strengthened the validity of the study.

Some of the disadvantages include the length of time it took to recruit and conduct face-to-face interviews, which caused me to spend lots of hours trying to secure participants for the required amount of time needed to conduct interviews in this manner. A second disadvantage was the number of participants studied to gain data is lesser than that of doing a survey allowing me to get participation from hundreds of small business owners. A third and final disadvantage was getting the data transcribed in a timely fashion that allowed for me to get back to the participants and gain clarity on my finding and their original intent. A disadvantage of asking for company documentation was the risk of some companies not being willing to participate in the study because they did not want to share the type of information requested. Member checking was be used to ensure that the interpretation I received from the data aligned with what the participants meant when we originally conducted the interview.

Data Organization Techniques

There must be an appropriate data storage strategy used to maintain the integrity of the transcribed interviews, audio recordings, and any backup copies of interviews (Anyan, 2013). Data was organized by maintaining a master journal consisting of the interview questions and participant's responses. There were also labels before each participant's section in the master journal so that accuracy of statements will remain in alignment with the correct participant. A label heading will be used containing a participant number (i.e. participant 1, 2, 3, etc.) for each company. The data captured under each participant's label included nonverbal cues, interview setting, and if anything unusual happened during the interview (i.e. audio recording malfunctions, frequent

interruptions by participant's staff, etc.). Having labels allowed me to reference more easily back to a particular part of the participant's interview without having to locate it through filtering all of the data collected for that participant. Also, I utilized a research journal to capture my thoughts and reflect on each interview. This journal was used within 24 to 48 hours after the initial interview took place. Each of these steps was used to identify themes, patterns, trends, and main topics that emerged and note conflicting participant interpretations, alternative perspectives, and critiques (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). All raw data, interview notes, audio recordings, transcribed interview notes, and my reflective journal will be safely secured in a locked cabinet in my home for 5 years and destroyed after that (Harnish, 2012).

Data Analysis Technique

Preparing and organizing data in qualitative research requires organizing the data into themes by coding, condensing the codes, and making sense of the data through figures, tables, or in discussions (Arnold & Lane, 2011). Methodological triangulation was used as part of this multiple case study. A researcher can get a more comprehensive picture through methodological triangulation than by using one type of data collection alone (Heale & Forbes, 2013). The focus of this study was to identify, categorize, and interpret themes that aid in helping small businesses to sustain their operations beyond 10 years. After the interviews had been completed, I shared my interpretation of each interview with participants by e-mail to ensure validity through member checking.

Member checking can be used to make sure that the proper interpretation of the data and

word choice was used once the transcribed interview is written (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013).

After I receive the confirmation from participants that the data collected was accurate, I then used computer software to search for themes that derived from the interviews and audio recordings conducted with small business owners. I looked at the profit and loss statements and cash flow statements to identify common themes. Rowley (2012) stated that software may allow the researcher to interpret and code the text, perform keyword searches, and organize the text. The use of the software NVivo 10th version was used to assist in analyzing the data and coding the themes that were revealed from the data. Before using NVivo software, I reviewed my interview notes, listen to the audio recordings, and look at my reflections so that I could ensure the accuracy of the data received from each participant. I made sure to exercise precautions in my data analysis to try to reduce bias from impacting the data analysis process (Markova, Perry, & Farmer, 2011).

I designed the interview questions for this study (Appendix A) to guide the collection of data relating to factors identified in existing research as possibly contributing to small business sustainability. General systems theory is the scientific exploration of wholes and wholeness (von Bertalanffy, 1972). By using a systems theory approach as my conceptual framework, I explored the multiple strategies used by small business owners as a whole to become sustainable businesses. I compared the results of the data analysis to the literature and indicated if the outcome of the data analysis were

(a) similar to the existing literature, (b) different from the existing literature, or (c) similar to but inconsistent with the existing literature.

Reliability and Validity

According to Corrigan, Desnick, Marshall, Bentov, and Rosenblatt (2011), keeping a journal can have a positive effect and creates a trail of ideas and insights for a researcher to include as additional data to analyze, thereby contributing to the reliability and validity of the study. Street and Ward (2012) stated that reliability and validity are two commonly used terms researchers use when discussing accuracy and precision of data collected. In qualitative research, dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability are the elements used to determine reliability and validity (Cope, 2014; Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013).

Dependability

The terms reliability and internal validity in quantitative research are synonymous with dependability and credibility in qualitative research (Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2013). I followed an interview protocol (Appendix A) for the interviews I conducted and collected company documents from the participants. After the interviews, I e-mailed participants my completed transcript to give them an opportunity to check for errors or discrepancies in the data collected. The use of the qualitative data analysis software NVivo was used to strengthen further the dependability of the study. This study was a qualitative case study that involved exploring strategies that could contribute to increasing small business sustainability beyond 10 years.

Credibility

Credibility refers to the ability of future researchers to make the same observations of a phenomenon if they conduct the research using the same procedures (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Credibility concerns truths; provides affirmation that data collection was accurate; and ensures findings, interpretations, and conclusions emerging from the research are factual and accurately represent real-world phenomena (Frost et al., 2011). In qualitative research, credibility assesses whether there is a match between the source of the data collected and the interpretation of the researcher (Munn et al., 2014). Credibility can be enhanced by me sharing my experience as a researcher and verifying the finding of my research with each participant (Cope, 2014). The use of NVivo 10 qualitative analysis software and continuous review of my researcher notes may improve credibility. I repeated the data analysis until themes and patterns were clearly identifiable, therefore increasing credibility (Markova et al., 2011). Leedy and Ormrod (2013) stated that qualitative validity involves trustworthiness and credibility.

To improve trustworthiness throughout the study, I included triangulation, member checking, and disclosing and monitoring researcher bias. Triangulation is a method used to strengthen the validity of a qualitative study by the use of multiple data collection methods such as interviews, observations, and journaling recordings throughout the research process (Cope, 2014). Company documents were collected and analyzed along with the interviews through methodological triangulation to increase further the credibility of the data. Member checking is a participant validation technique used to improve the reliability, validity, accuracy, and credibility of a qualitative study

(Mero-Jaffe, 2011). Participants in the study had the opportunity to review my transcribed interviews and research findings before the research was finalized. Once participants verified the accuracy of the statements that was derived from the data analysis and research findings, the credibility of the data was improved.

Transferability

Researchers must examine the degree in which the qualitative findings can be transferred to other contexts or settings outside of the research (Onwuegbuzie, 2012; Houghton et al., 2013). Transferability will apply to this research study through the research findings being meaningful to individuals who are not a part of the study (Cope, 2014). Employees, their families, vendors, customers, and other stakeholders can use the research findings in this study because they would be directly affected by a small business that lacks sustainability strategies. Readers of this study will be able to take the findings and apply them to their small business to strengthen their sustainability strategies. Future researchers will be able to utilize this study as a tool to build upon through further researching the themes and strategies uncovered.

Conformability

Conformability was seen in this research study by me including the participants' responses to each interview question in the appendix section after the research had been conducted (Cope, 2014). By including participant answers in the appendix, readers will be able to identify that the findings did not derive from my personal biases of viewpoints, but rather from the themes that emerged from the participants.

To ensure data saturation I continued interviewing participants until no new information was uncovered (Dworkin, 2012). In this research study, a sample size of three participants, while using methodological triangulation, transcript review, and member checking further helped to ensure data saturation and improve the credibility of the study.

Transition and Summary

A few of the key topics discussed in Section 2 included the restatement of the purpose of the study topic, the research methodology and design that was used while completing the study, the role of the researcher, and the participants. Semistructured interviews was conducted of at three small business owners in the Birmingham, Alabama, to explore emerging themes from businesses that have been in operation for at least 10 years. Interviews continued until data saturation was obtained by the researcher. I collected company documents and reviewed them through methodological triangulation along with the interview results.

Section 3 begins with an introduction and a restatement of the purpose of the research study, along with the central research question. Section 3 contains the overview and study findings, including the study's business relevance, applications to professional practice, and implications for social change. Section 3 also contains recommendations for action and future studies.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small business owners use to increase chances of sustainability beyond 10 years. Small businesses create the majority of jobs in the United States and are a key economic growth driver (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). I conducted semistructured interviews with three small business owners in Birmingham, Alabama, who have sustained their operation beyond 10 years. Triangulation took place by reviewing the transcribed interview data along with the company documents, cash flow statements, and profit and loss statements received by each participant (Oleinik, 2011). Names of the individuals or the business were not used to protect the confidentiality of the participants. Once data saturation was achieved, I utilized NVivo data analysis software to assist me in identifying themes and key strategies that answered the central research question. The following themes emerged from the research, based on of methodological triangulation: great customer service, building relationships, finding your passion.

Presentation of the Findings

The findings from the study aligned well with the systems theory, in that each emergent theme is dependent upon the other in order assist business owners in building a sustainable business. System theory is the discipline of studying interrelationships rather than individual components and patterns of change (von Bertalanffy, 1972). Instead of business owners using each theme independently, they can use the themes collectively to assist in the sustainability of the business. The focus of systems theory is interconnectivity between the parts and the relationship between parts that connect them

together as a whole (Miles, 2013). I used participant interviews and company documents, such as profit and loss statements and cash flow statements, to complete my methodological triangulation of data for this study. I collected the responses to answer the following research question: What are the business strategies of small business owners who have sustained their businesses beyond 10 years?

Of the two data sources, I collected the largest amount of data from interviewing the participants. I reached data saturation when the interview data and company documents reviewed became repetitive, and no additional information was added. I entered the interview data and company documents into the qualitative data analysis software Nvivo. The following three main themes emerged: (a) great customer service, (b) building relationships, and (c) finding your passion.

The first theme that emerged involved the importance of providing great customer service to every client. The second emergent theme included the small business owners' ability to build strong relationships both internally and externally. The third emergent theme revealed the importance of finding your passion. Each of the emergent themes aligned well with the conceptual frameworks used for the study, which was the general systems theory. Each theme can be utilized by the small business owner collectively to affect the overall sustainability of the company to operate beyond 10 years.

Emergent Theme 1: Great Customer Service

The first theme to emerge was the need for the small business owner to provide great customer service to their customers. One hundred percent of the participants mentioned customer satisfaction as an important component of building a sustainable

small business beyond 10 years of operation. The theme of providing good customer services aligns with the general systems theory because each participant mentioned how customer service aided in their ability to attract and maintain new customers. Systems theory looks at how different components of an operation link together and affects the whole of the organization (Mangal, 2013). A small business owner can utilize the company size to their advantage when seeking to build great customer service because the owner can interact more frequently with their clients as opposed to with larger businesses (Anderson & Ullah, 2014). Larger businesses are unable to build personal relationships with their customers, like small business owners, due to small business owners not having layers of employees and managers in between themselves and the customers the business serves.

The responses given by participants from Interview Questions 4 and 5 revealed that customer service was a key ingredient in the sustainability of each participant's small business. Participant 2 stated his goal was "pleasing our customers no matter what the cost. Whatever the customer perceives as fair is what I'm willing to do." Participant 1 confirmed this strategy by stating, "Make sure your client knows that when they walk through the door, they are the most important person, and they feel that throughout the entire process." Additionally, Participant 3 stated, "Prepare for your customers and try to nourish them so that you can keep them coming back." The theme of great customer service aligns with the systems theory by showing how important customer service is to the overall success of a small business. If a small business owner knows how to treat both the employees and customers in a way that makes them feel respected and appreciated,

there will be tangible and intangible results from the business. An example of the tangible results might be increased sales from repeat customers, and intangible results might be and building a strong reputation within the community. Each theme mentioned works together in wholeness to assist small business owners in sustaining their business beyond 10 years of operation.

Being a small business can have some advantages of being able to become closer to customers through the owner having more frequent interactions (Anderson & Ullah, 2014). Participant 3 stated, "Being accessible to clients is critical to any small business." It is important for small business owners to make sure customers feel respected and listened to so that the customers will want to come back to purchase more and create repeat business (Sinfield, Calder, McConnell, & Colson, 2012). Participant 1 stated, "We treat our clients with tremendous respect." One response given by Participant 2 confirmed the importance of customer service in his business, when he stated, "Treat people how you want to be treated." Reviewing the 2015 cash flow statements for Participant 2 and Participant 3 revealed that little amounts of money were spent on advertising. During the interview, the participants stated that they focused a lot on providing great customer service, which is what they each believed contributed to their sustainability.

Table 2 identifies the frequency with which customer service was mentioned throughout the interview and the percentage of interview questions answered by referencing customer service as a strategy used to create a sustainable small business.

Participants 1 and 2 mentioned customer service in three of the five interview questions,

which made up 60% of the responses collected. Participant 3 referenced customer service in two of his five interview responses, which he mentioned in 40% of his interview responses.

Table 2

Number of Times Customer Service Mentioned

Customer Service	Times Mentioned	% of Responses
Participant 1, Interview question 2, 4, & 5	3	60
Participant 2, Interview question 4 & 5	3	60
Participant 3, Interview questions 4 & 5	2	40

The theme of providing great customer service to customers was confirmed by previous literature (Anderson & Ullah, 2014; Mangal, 2013); therefore, this theme builds upon the existing research on small business sustainability. All participants identified customer service as a required component of their business sustainability.

Emergent theme and past literature. One way customer service can be improved is through providing employee development (Kim et al., 2013). Employee development can increase the productivity of the employees in the business, which can lead to improved customer service. Bryant and Allen (2013) identified employee development as a vital component of small business sustainability. Employee development was mentioned by Participant 2 in Interview Questions 1 and 4, when he stated, "One key to his success was giving his employees an incentive to work hard stay motivated." By keeping employees motivated, business owners put their business in a

position to offer the best customer service to its customers, which may increase the sustainability of the company.

Emergent Theme 2: Building Relationships

The second emergent theme revealed from the data collection was the ability for the small business owner to build strong relationships. Participant 2 stated, in response to Interview Question 4, "You cannot overvalue relationships." Interview Question 5 revealed that relationship building skills are essential to the sustainability of small business by Participant 3 stating that "relationship building is important." Building relationships with customers is important, and building internal relationships with employees is essential. In his response to Interview Question 3, Participant 3 mentioned, "People like to know who the owner is, and in a small business this is vital." Table 3 shows that Participant 2 referred to the importance of building relationships in three of his five responses, which accounted for 60% of the replies given by Participant 2. Participants 1 and 3 both mentioned the importance building relationships was in the sustainability of their business in two of the five interview questions, accounting for 40% of the responses given by participants.

Table 3

Number of Times Building Relationships Mentioned

Questions where participants mentioned relationship building	Times Mentioned	% of Responses
Participant 1, Interview questions 4 & 5	2	40
Participant 2, Interview questions 1, 4, & 5	3	60
Participant 3, Interview questions 3 & 5	2	40

Building relationships both internally and externally was mentioned by all participants in the form of partnerships with businesses looking to grow together. Establishing trust with customers, suppliers, vendors, employees, and other industry professionals is one key component of building a sustainable small business (de Klerk & Saayman, 2012). Participant 2 stated, "You have to know how to have relationships," in his response to Interview Question 1. Later in the interview, Participant 2 also mentioned, "I'm friends with my vendors." The statement made by Participant 2 aligns well with the research of de Klerk and Saayman (2012), who stated that a key component of running a successful small business is establishing trust with suppliers, vendors, and other industry professionals.

Building relationships aligns with the conceptual framework for this study because it shows the dependency that a small business has in gaining customers and utilizing suppliers. In the overall scheme of a small business, key partnerships have to be made to do business effectively on a daily basis, which ties into the overall success of the small business. A small business owner who is seeking to build a business that will sustain beyond 10 years can develop the necessary soft skills such as building relationships as an individual component of running a small business that contributes to the wholeness of running a successful business.

Emergent theme and past literature. The emergent theme of building relationships confirms what previous researchers have uncovered as a part of findings.

Previous research was consistent that building relationships externally can have a positive effect on the sustainability of the small business (Augusto et al., 2012; Keating et al.,

2013). The size of the business can also play a significant role in building relationships with the business owner and the customers, vendors, and employees (Anderson & Ullah, 2014). Building relationships aligns well with systems theory, because when employees focus on providing great customer service, it can generate repeat customers, which can positively aid in the sustainability of the business. Systems theory is when individual components of an organization can come together and make an impact on the organization as a whole (Mangal, 2013).

Each participant in this study mentioned the importance of being able to establish and maintain healthy relationships because it can affect performance and customer service. Participant 1 mentioned how in her business, 4 years ago she partnered with a catering company to expand their services, which has increased her sales. Taking a step to partner with an outside catering company aligns with the research of Chrisman, McMullen, Ring, and Holt (2012) when they stated that limitations exist among all business owners that require them to tap into external assistance when evaluating new ideas or strategies.

Participant 2 summed up the value of building relationships in his response to Interview Question 5, when he stated, "The crux of everything in business falls on knowing how to build the right relationships." The research of Keating et al. (2013) further confirmed the statement from Participant 2; they stated that a small business owner must recognize when their organization's ability to sustain without his or her capacity requires bringing in external expertise. Participant 1 revealed the use of an external company to handle her payroll and accounting functions for the business.

Emergent Theme 3: Finding Your Passion

The third emergent theme revealed from the data was finding what your passion is in business. Participant 1 and Participant 2 mentioned owning a business in the industry you love is a key to running a sustainable business. In Interview Question 3, Participant 1 mentioned, "you really have to have a passion and a dream for what you do." Participant 3 responded to Interview Question 1 by stating, "find something that you enjoy doing, because the business takes a major part of your life away." Participant 2 mentioned that you have to be passionate about helping others and finding out what your employees are passionate about doing. The statement made by Participant 2 aligns with systems theory because it shows that an employee who is passionate about their job, can impact the business as a whole. If employees are not passionate about their job, it could negatively affect their interactions with customers, and lead to a lack of sustainability of the business.

Existing literature supports the importance of being passionate about the industry that you choose to start a business. Tasmin, Yahya, and Zainuddin, (2014), stated the more passionate a person is about their passion, the more sentimental they will be about achieving their business goals. Degeorge and Fayolle (2011) stated that business owners are more passionate about their work and are willing to work longer hours when they feel they have autonomy of choice and decisional freedom. Participant 3 confirmed Degeorge and Fayolle's statement when he mentioned how being in business can take away a major part of your life. Another statement made by Participant 3 in the interview was him stating that "when a person finds their passion, work is no longer work, it becomes fun."

This statement also ties into what Degeorge and Fayolle (2011) uncovered in their research regarding the autonomy of choice and decisional freedom.

Table 4 shows the frequency in which passion was mentioned in answering the interview questions. Participant 1 mentioned finding your passion as a key component of running a sustainable business in two of the five interview responses she gave, which accounted for 40% of her interview responses. Participant 2 did not mention passion as a tool to help him build a sustainable business. Participant 3 mentioned finding your passion in his response to Interview Question 1, which accounted for 20% of the five interview responses given. In addition to the response of Participant 3, he mentioned that a small business owner must love what he does so much that it will be rewarding enough for them to spend so much time away from family in order to run their business.

Table 4

Number of Times Participant Mentioned Finding Your Passion

Questions where participants mentioned finding your passion	Times Mentioned	% of Responses
Participant 1, Interview questions 1 & 3	2	40%
Participant 2, Did not mention passion	0	0%
Participant 3, Interview question 1	1	20%

Finding your passion does not confirm what previous researchers have mentioned as a theme for running a sustainable business. Therefore, the finding, from this research, extends the knowledge in the discipline of small business sustainability. Reppert (2012) mentioned the importance of networking in running a sustainable small business.

Management education and experience were referred to by Chinomona (2013) as being a

component that small business owners must possess when seeking to build a sustainable operation. In his response to Interview Question 2, Participant 2 mentioned continuing education as a tool he used to remain competent in his industry, but Participants 1 and 3 did not mention education in their answers. Participant 2's response aligned with the research of Teck-Hong and Yong-Kean (2012) when they stated that business owners who promoted continuing education throughout their business had a lower risk of failure.

Previous research also revealed capital and financial management as a characteristic that small business owners must be proficient in to sustain their business. Proper funding and having financial management procedures can aid in the sustainability of a small business (Kozan & Akdeniz, 2014; Moeller & Valentinov, 2012). During the interviews, none of the participants mentioned proper funding or financial management strategies as a key component of building a sustainable business. The theme of finding your passion can be added to the existing body of knowledge, and can be further explored by future researchers.

Emergent themes tied back to the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework that aligned with this research was systems theory. Systems theory is when a group of individual parts interact with one another to function as a whole (Mangal, 2013). In applying the general systems theory, each small business owner's individual ability to provide great customer service, build relationships, and find their passion, all contribute to sustaining their business as a whole. No individual characteristic alone can aid in making a business sustain for 10 or more years; it takes finding your passion, building relationships, and great customer service working together that helps the business in the

overall sustainability of the operation. If a business owner provides great customer service, yet lacks the ability to build strong relationships with vendors, customers, and employees, the business would not be able to sustain operations (Toson, 2012). Because each characteristic is needed for the overall sustainability of the company, the themes identified align with the systems theory.

The research results further align with von Bertalanffy's (1972) theory that suggests all parts of an entity contribute to a functioning system. As a small business owner, if one does not possess the ability to function in each of the three emergent themes, it could aid in the inability of the business to sustain beyond 10 years. The theme of building relationships ties back to the conceptual framework because a business may make the best products in town, but if the owner lacks the necessary skills to encourage the customer to do business with them, the business will be unsuccessful. Drack and Schwarz (2010) suggested that general systems theory requires numerous factors working together as a whole to ensure success.

The theme of passion ties back to systems theory because passion is what causes business owners to stay motivated to keep doing the day to day operations when they do not see immediate results. If a small business owner lacks passion, other parts of the business will be negatively affected such as the way employees are treated, which leads to negative customer service. Lack of passion can also hinder business owners from continuously going out to build relationships that are needed to continue improving the company. Greater understanding of the common themes and patterns can lead to solutions from a better understanding of the problem as a whole (Mehrjerdi, 2011).

Research findings and past literature. The results of research from this study contributes to the existing literature, as it pertains to the research question; what business strategies successful small business owners have used to sustain their business beyond 10 years. Miles (2013) identified employee development, financial management strategies, and management education and experience, as some key components that aid in small business sustainability. One of the emergent themes that aligned with the existing literature was building relationships as a strategy used to sustain your business.

Building relationships involve both the ability to establish strong internal and external relationships with employees, customers, vendors, suppliers, and industry professionals (de Klerk & Saayman, 2012). Keating et al. (2013) stated, if a business owner does not have specific skills in a particular area, they must be able to recognize their lack of competence and be willing to go outside the organization to complete the task. Chrisman et al. (2012), identified that every business owner will have to build relationships outside their organization, due to limitations that exist, no matter the education level, knowledge or experience gained. Research conducted by Awuah and Reintert (2012) stated that a small business owner's ability to develop business relationships in their market can lead to the failure or success of the business.

Networking was another strategy mentioned in the research findings from Cote (2012) stating the value in using this skill among friends, family, community groups, and government groups. In addition to networking skills, past research identified with the use of outside assistance in the areas where the business owner may not have the expertise in

(Keating et al., 2013). Participants 1 and two both mentioned how they utilized external assistance through vendors and suppliers to strengthen the success of their business.

Providing great customer service was another theme identified by this study's participants that build upon the existing literature. Sinfield et al. (2012) stated the importance of listening to consumer insights and responding to their needs. A business owner has to spend time listening to their employees and their customers if the owner wants to provide customer service. Participant 1 mentioned how she spends time listening to her potential clients and allowing them to share their goals with her before she starts making recommendations. O'Donnell (2011) further confirms the importance of customer service in small business sustainability when he stated that customer service is a principle means in which a small business owner retains customers.

The existing literature mentions the importance of passion in a small business setting and how sustainability can be achieved, if the owner is passionate about the product or service. Tasnim, Yahya, and Zainuddin (2014) identified that the more passionate the business owner is about their company, the more sentimental they were towards achieving their goals. Small business owners are willing to work longer hours and not get as easily discouraged when they are passionate about what they do. The identified themes link together in building a strategy that can aid in helping small business sustainability in the southeastern regions of the United States. The inability to maintain a balance of each identified themes one could hinder small businesses from attaining further growth.

Applications to Professional Practice

The applicability of providing great customer service, building relationships, and finding your passion are all relevant findings to the professional practice of business.

Small firms are significant in job creation; however, they are inherently unstable because of their increased likelihood of failure and have a high exit rate (Haltiwanger, Jarmin, & Miranda, 2013). Exit rate is when in a given period, the number of firms that cease operations during that period, divided by the total number of firms that operated during the same period. The data from the participant interviews and company documents revealed strategies for sustainability that have the potential to aid small business owners in numerous ways. I have contributed to the current research and enhanced the existing body of knowledge regarding experiences of small business owners in the southeastern United States with businesses in existence for at least 10 years.

The findings revealed in the study can contribute to existing literature. The findings acquired from the study have further applicability to improve business practice by educating future and current small business owners on sustainability strategies. Small business owners can review their ability to (a) provide great customer service, (b) build relationships, and (c) function in their passion and implement strategies to follow these emergent themes to help sustain their business beyond 10 years. There are over 600,000 small businesses in the southeastern United States that employ thousands of individuals each year (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). As a small business owner, being able to build a sustainable business beyond 10 years will have a positive effect on the families, communities, and local economy.

Small business owners that recognize the importance of providing great customer service, building relationships, and finding their passion can increase the sustainability of their business in the southeastern region of the United States beyond 10 years. Having good customer service is important because it reduces the amount of money spent on acquiring new customers, which increases the business revenue in future years, and aids in improving sustainability (Weimer, Hartwiger, Walter, & Doerr, 2012). The theme participants identified most frequently in their interview responses that aligned with past research was building relationships.

The importance of building relationships goes beyond solely focusing on the customer, and expands into building relationships with employees, vendors, and suppliers (de Klerk & Saayman, 2012). Chrisman et al. (2012) further supports building relationships as a key factor, by stating that a small business owner must be able to identify when they need to seek external help in continuing to drive their business forward. Building relationships are relevant to the improved business practice because having an understanding of these strategies can affect every aspect of the business owner being able to sustain their business. Given the importance of building relationships, business owners should seek out training on how to develop these soft skills if they lack in this area.

Being able to identify your passion is the third emergent theme identified in the participant's responses. Tasnim et al. (2014) indicated that the more passionate a small business owner is, the more sentimental they are towards the achievement of their business goals. Being sentimental aids in motivating business owners to work longer

hours, push harder towards reaching sales goals, and developing the soft skills needed to operate a sustainable business (Tasnim et al., 2014). The results of my research indicate that if a person wants to start and sustain a small business, they need to develop these skills to increase the likelihood of the business surviving beyond 10 years.

Implications for Social Change

In the United States, small businesses are the source of most job creations (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). Small business is the primary engine of innovation, jobs, and growth (Gale & Brown, 2013). The U.S. Small Business Administration discovered only around 50% of all new small businesses survive 5 years or more and about 75% survive 10 years or more (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2014). Results of this study (a) providing customer service, (b) building relationships, and (c) finding your passion, offers small business owners a glimpse of current strategies taken by other small business owners to achieve sustainability beyond 10 years.

Many start-ups fail in the first years following opening their doors; about 47% of the jobs created by start-ups are eliminated in the first 5 years (Haltiwanger et al., 2013). Small businesses are essential to the health of the United States economy as they account for approximately 50% of all jobs and 99% of all firms (Labedz & Berry, 2011). Small business failure results in a loss of income and employment for the owner, the employees, and their families. The research findings can affect social change if a small business owner reviews the findings from this study and implement strategies for providing customer service, building relationships, and finding their passion. When a small business owner operates a sustainable business, it contributes to the prosperity of their employees,

their families, the communities, and the local economy through tax revenue. Operating a sustainable business can reduce the unemployment rate, by providing jobs for individuals in the communities the business serves. Families who are employed may not have to rely on government assistance and live in low-income communities, as a result of receiving regular pay from the business.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive multiunit case study was to explore and reveal what strategies small business owners used to sustain their businesses beyond 10 years. Small businesses make up about half of private sector output, employ more than half of private sector workers, and produce a large share of new jobs (Byrd, Ross, & Glackin, 2013). Current small business owners, entrepreneurs, and future small business owners should pay attention to the results because they can benefit from the research findings, which were, the importance of providing great customer service, building relationships, and finding their passion. I identified three themes that aided in the sustainability of small business owners in the southeastern United States, beyond 10 years; and new and existing businesses who have not reached 10 years in operation can learn from the research findings. Also, I recommend the Small Business Development Center Network (SBDC) and the U.S. Small Business Administration district branches in states throughout the southeastern United States should pay attention to the results and share them with potential future and current small business owners.

Business school professors and instructors should pay attention to the research findings, so they can share the information with their current and future students. Sharing

the results of this research study with students, can provide education and strategies for the students in an environment where they can learn, without having to go through the experience of starting a small business without the knowledge of the research findings; therefore having to experience closing their small business before it reaches 10 years of operation. Additionally, I plan to present the findings of this study to small business conferences and in industry trade journals such as the Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship, Journal of Small Business Strategy, and the Journal of Small Business Management.

The results of this study will be presented at industry conferences and small business workshops such as the American Management Association and other industry conferences, trainings, and seminars that focus on the sustainability of small businesses. I will conduct additional research in the future, surrounding the topic of small business sustainability that will be presented to academic journals for publication. I will provide the participants of my study with an overview of the findings, and provide them with instructions on how they can retrieve the full paper to read and share with their staff. My final recommendation is not only for local small business owners in the southeastern United States, but small business owners in other regions throughout the United States to pay attention to the results and findings to see if the strategies uncovered can aid businesses in other regions to sustain beyond 10 years.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this qualitative multiple case study, the primary limitation was the sample size of participants. Recommendations for further studies can include a study involving a

larger sample size of participants. Data saturation was achieved after interviewing three participants in this study. Data saturation involves continually adding new participants and collecting data for the study until the data set is complete, which happens when no new information is being obtained (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). A study based in a different geographical location, other than the southeastern United States is recommended see if findings will be similar or different in other regions.

I recommend that future researchers should study a specific industry of small business owners as opposed to various industries. Also, a longitudinal study conducted over a more extensive period is recommended to account for changes in business stability. I recommend conducting studies regarding the emergent themes of customer service, building relationships, and finding your passion in relation to small business sustainability. Additionally, I recommend conducting a study of small businesses that have greater than 50 employees. This study was based on a qualitative research method with a case study design; other methodologies and designs should be considered for further research on small business sustainability strategies. My final recommendation would be to conduct a similar study that researchs franchises to see if the findings will be different or similar.

Reflections

My experience within the DBA Doctoral Study process has been a great learning experience. I have been challenged spiritually, mentally, physically, and academically in ways that I did not know could happen when I started the program. Starting the process of obtaining my doctorate was something I knew would help me in gaining additional

knowledge and understanding of the topic I chose on small business sustainability. I have learned more about small business in the United States, and more specifically about small business in the southeastern region of the United States. I believe I can now confidently go out and share my research findings with current and future business owners and stand behind my recommendations to help each small business become sustainable beyond 10 years.

As the researcher, I made sure to follow the interview protocol to minimize error and research bias (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Another step taken to reduce bias was that I did not personally know the small business owners I interviewed. During the interviews, I controlled my reactions to the interview responses, so that it would not influence the participants to answer questions differently. I feel that I did not have an effect on the participants, in the way they responded to the interview question. Each business owner has been successful for many years, so sharing their strategies for sustainability was not intimidating for them. I feel that meeting with each of the small business owners and gaining an understanding into their world of running a sustainable business was inspiring and notable. Each person I interviewed shared a similar passion and desire to succeed in business, even though they all operated in various industries. I can tell from conducting the interviews, without the owners being the driving force behind each business, the sustainability of each company would have been different.

I now have a greater level of respect for anyone running a small business, or having a desire to run a small business. From the research findings, I identified how sustainable small businesses provide jobs for others in the communities and be socially

responsible for making sure to give back. My changes in thinking, after completing the study is that I was surprised by the themes uncovered during this process. Starting out the study, I was unsure about how the results of the study would be. I thought there would be a "magic bullet" or "special thing" businesses that have sustained did to aid in their overall success. However, the findings revealed to me that there are no magic bullets or special things that have to be done, just a focus on doing the fundamentals consistently and intently with every customer. By focusing on the fundamentals of providing great customer service, building relationships, and pursuing their passion, small business owners have been able to provide a great lifestyle for themselves, their employees, and the communities they serve. I now have a greater love for the phrase, "stick to the basics."

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore what strategies small business owners used to achieve sustainability beyond 10 years. I collected data using methodological triangulation of two data sources. Semistructured interviews with three small business owners were conducted to obtain the first set of data. The secondary data consisted of company profit and loss statements and yearly cash flow statements. I reached data saturation when the data became repetitive, and no additional information was added to the findings (Walker, 2012).

Three main themes emerged from the research findings after I coded and analyzed the data. I linked the analysis of each emergent theme back to the literature, the existing body of knowledge, and general systems theory. My findings of the study were clear in

suggesting that (a) great customer service, (b) building relationships, and (c) finding your passion may be necessary elements of the sustainability of small businesses beyond 10 years of being in business.

References

- Alasadi, R., & Al Sabbagh, H. (2015). The role of training in small business performance. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 7(1), 293-311. Retrieved from http://ijibm.elitehall.com
- Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Social and Environmental Accountability Journal*, 5(1/2), 25-64. Retrieved from http://www.st-andrews.ac.uk/~csearweb/seaj/
- Anderson, A. R., & Ullah, F. (2014). The condition of smallness: How what it means to be small deters firms from getting bigger. *Management Decision*, *52*(2), 326-349. doi:10.1108/MD-10-2012-0734
- Anderson, C. (2010). Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8), 1-8. doi:10.5688/AJ7408141
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report*, *18* (36), 1-9.

 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Arnold E., & Lane, S. (2011). Qualitative research: a valuable tool for transfusion

 Medicine. *Transfusion*, 51(6), 688-691. doi:10.1111/j.1537-2995.2010.03046.x
- Arthur, S. J., & Hisrich, R. D. (2011). Entrepreneurship through the ages: Lessons learned. *Journal of Enterprising Culture*, 19 (1), 1-40. doi:10.1142/S0218495811000696
- Augusto, F. J., Eduardo, C., & Jorge, C. (2012). Human capital and social capital in entrepreneurs and managers of small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Business*

- Economics & Management, 13(3), 395-420. doi:10.3846/16111699.2011.620139
- Awuah, G. B., & Reintert, V. (2012). Small firms use of their business relationships to cope with increased competition. *International Journal of Business Strategy, 12*, 36-47. Retrieved from http://www.iabe.org/domains/iabeX/journal.aspx?Journalid=7
- Bakeman, M. M., & Hanson, L. (2012). Bringing social media to small business: A role for employees and students in technology diffusion. *Business Education Innovation Journal*, 4(2), 106–111. Retrieved from http://www.beijournal.com/home.html
- Baker, K. (2010). America: The story of us. New York, NY: Melcher Media.
- Bandura, R. P., & Lyons, P. R. (2015). Performance templates: An entrepreneur's pathway to employee training and development. *Journal of Business and Entrepreneurship*, 26(3), 37-54. Retrieved from http://asbe.us/jbe
- Bansal, P., & Corley, K. (2012). Publishing in AMJ- Part 7: What's different about qualitative research? *Academy of Management Journal*, *55*(3), 509-513. doi:10.5465/amj.2012.4003
- Barratt, M., Choi, T. Y., & Li, M. (2011). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(4), 329-342.
 doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Barth, J., Lin, D., & Yost, K. (2011). Small and medium enterprise financing in transition economies. *Atlantic Economic Journal*, *39*(1), 19-38. doi:10.1007/s11293-010-

- Beattie, R. S., Kim, S., Hagen, M. S., Egan, T. M., Ellinger, A. D., & Hamlin, R. G. (2014). Managerial coaching a review of the empirical literature and development of a model to guide future practice. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 16(2), 184-201. doi:10.1177/1523422313520476
- Berg, N. (2014). Success from satisficing and imitation: Entrepreneurs' location choice and implications of heuristics for local economic development. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(8), 1700-1709.
- Bergh, P., Thorgren, S., & Wincent, J. (2011). Entrepreneurs learning together: The importance of building trust for learning and exploiting business opportunities.

 *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 7(1), 17-37.

 doi:10.1007/s11365-009-0120-9
- Blackford, M. G. (2003). *A history of small business in America* (2nd ed.). Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press.
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(8), 1866-1891. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Bodunkova, A. G., & Chernaya, I. P. (2012). Fractal organization as innovative model for entrepreneurial university development. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, *18*, 74-82. doi:10.5829/idosi.wasj.2012.18.120012
- Borrego, M., Douglas, E. P., & Amelink, C. T. (2011). Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed research methods in engineering education. *Journal of Engineering*

- Education, 41(1), 153-166. Retrieved from http://www.jee.org
- Braun, F. C., Avital, M., & Martz, B. (2012). Action-centered team leadership influences more than performance. *Team Performance Management*, 18(3/4), 176-195. doi:10.1108/13527591211241015
- Bryant, P. C., & Allen, D. G. (2013). Compensation, benefits, employee turnover: HR strategies for retaining top talent. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 45(3), 171-175. doi:10.1177/0886368713494342
- Buchan, J. F. (2011). The chicken or the egg? Investigating the transformational impact of learning technology. *Research in Learning Technology*, 19(2), 155-172. doi:10.1080/21567069.2011.586674
- Buckle Henning, P., & Chen, W. (2012). Systems thinking: Common ground or untapped territory? *Systems Research & Behavioral Science*, 29(5), 470-483. doi:10.1002/sres.2155
- Byrd, K., Ross, L. W., & Glackin, C. E. W. (2013). A preliminary causal analysis of small business access to credit during economic expansion and contraction.

 *Journal of Applied Finance and Banking, 3(5), 77-84. Retrieved from http://www.scienpress.com/journal_focus.asp?Main_Id=56.htm
- Campbell, N. D., Heriot, K. C., Jauregui, A., & Mitchell, D. T. (2012). Which state policies lead to U.S. firm exits? Analysis with the economic freedom index. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 50(1), 87-104. doi:10.1111/j.1540627X.2011.00345.x
- Cardon, M. S., Stevens, C. E., & Potter, D. R. (2011). Misfortunes or mistakes? Cultural

- sense making of entrepreneurial failure. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 26(1), 79-92. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2009.06.004
- Chinomona, R. (2013). Business owner's expertise, employee skills training and business performance: A small business perspective. *Journal of Applied Business**Research*, 29(6), 1883-1892. http://dx.doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v29i6.8224
- Chrisman, J. J., McMullan, W. E., Ring, J. K., & Holt, D. T. (2012). Counseling assistance, entrepreneurship education, and new venture performance. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, *I*(1), 63-83. doi:10.1108/20452101211208362
- Christofi, M., Nunes, M., Chao Peng, G., & Lin, A. (2013). Towards ERP success in SMEs through business process review prior to implementation. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 15(4), 304-323. doi:10.1108/JSIT-06-2013-0021
- Choudhary, A. I., Akhtar, S. A., & Zaheer, A. (2013). Impact of transformational and servant leadership on organizational performance: A comparative analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 116(2), 433-440. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1470-8
- Cole, R. A. (2013). What Do We Know about the Capital Structure of Privately Held US

 Firms? Evidence from the Surveys of Small Business Finance. *Financial Management (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 42(4), 777-813. doi:10.1111/fima.12015
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and Meanings: Credibility and Trustworthiness of Qualitative Research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91

- Corrigan, C., Desnick, L., Marshall, S., Bentov, N., & Rosenblatt, R. (2011). Primary care & health services section: What can we learn from first-year medical students' perceptions of pain in the primary care setting? *Pain Medicine*, *12*(8), 1216-1222. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01150.x
- Cote, R. G. (2012). Perceived impact of networking relationships on innovation in a life science company: A quantitative study (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3498730).
- Cragg, P., Mills, A. and Suraweera, T. (2013), The influence of IT management sophistication and IT support on IT success in small and medium-sized enterprises, *Journal of Small Business Management*, *51*(4), 617-636. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12001
- Craig, B. R., Jackson, W. E., & Thompson, J. B. (2009). The economic impact of Small Business Administration's intervention in the small farm credit market: A review of the research literature. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 47(2), 221-231. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2009.00269.x
- Cronin-Gilmore, J. (2012). Exploring marketing strategies in small businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 6(1), 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Davis, T. L. (2013). A qualitative study of the effects of employee retention on the organization (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (1313773596)
- Dawidowicz, P. (2012). The person on the street's understanding of systems thinking.

- Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 29(1), 2-13. doi:10.1002/sres.1094
- Degeorge, J., & Fayolle, A. (2011). The entrepreneurial process trigger: A modeling attempt in the French context. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 18, 251-277. doi:10.1108/14626001111127061
- de Klerk, S., & Saayman, M. (2012). Networking as key factor in artpreneurial success. European Business Review, 24(5), 382-399. doi:10.1108/09555341211254490
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- DiBacco, T. V. (2003). *The history of American business: Made in the USA* (Rev. ed.). Washington, DC: Beard.
- Diez-Roux, A. V. (2011). Complex systems thinking and current impasses in health disparities research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(9), 1627-1634. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300149
- Drack, M. (2009). Ludwig von Bertalanffy's early system approach. *Systems Research & Behavioral Science*, 26(5), 563-572. doi:10.1002/sres.992
- Dunn, P., & Liang, K. (2011). A comparison of entrepreneurship/small business and finance professors' reaction to selected entrepreneurial and small business financial planning and management issues. *Journal of Entrepreneurship Education*, 14(3), 93-104. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Editorial: Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(6), 1319-1320. doi:10:1007/s10508-012-0016-6

- Eide, E. R., & Showalter, M. H. (2012). Methods matter: Improving causal inference in educational and social science research: A review article. *Economics of Education Review*, *31*(5), 744-748. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.05.010
- Eisenberg, E. M., Johnson, Z., & Pieterson, W. (2015). Leveraging social networks for strategic success. *Journal of Business Communication*, 52(1), 143-154. doi:10.1177/2329488414560283
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Ennis, K. L., & Tucci, J. E. (2011). Attention entrepreneurial small business owner (ESBO): Be your own internal auditor! *Entrepreneurial Executive*, *16*, 97-106. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Erlingsson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2013). Orientation among multiple truths: An introduction to qualitative research. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *3*(2), 92-99. doi:10.1016/j.afjem.2012.04.005
- Fassin, Y., Rossem, A., & Buelens, M. (2011). Small-business owner-managers' perceptions of business ethics and CSR-related concepts. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 98(3), 425-453. doi:10.1007/s10551-010-0586-y
- Feilzer, M. Y. (2010). Doing research pragmatically: Implications for the rediscovery of pragmatism as a research paradigm. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *4*(1), 6-16. doi:10.1177/1558689809349691
- Fielden, S. L., & Hunt, C. M. (2011). Online coaching: An alternative source of social

- support for female entrepreneurs during venture creation. *International Small Business Journal August*, 29(4), 345-359. doi:10.1177/0266242610369881
- Foley, D., & O'Connor, A. J. (2013). Social capital and networking practices of indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 51(2), 276-296. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12017
- Fox, T. L. (2011). A systems analysis, design, and development case study: Williams

 Bros. Appliances inventory & point-of-sale system. *Journal of the International*Academy for Case Studies, 17(8), 111-116. Retrieved from

 http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(2), 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Friedman, T. L., & Mandelbaum, M. (2011, November). America really was that great (but that doesn't mean we are now). *Foreign Policy*, *189*, 76-78. Retrieved from http://www.foreignpolicy.com
- Frost, N. A., Holt, A., Shinebourne, P., Esin, C., Nolas, S., Mehdizadeh, L., & Brooks-Gordon, B. (2011). Collective findings, individual interpretations: An illustration of a pluralistic approach to qualitative data analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 8(1), 93-113. doi:10.1080/14780887.2010.500351
- Gale, W., & Brown, S. (2013). Small business, innovation, and tax policy: A review.

 National Tax Journal, 66, 871-892. Retrieved from http://ntj.tax.org
- George, L., Helson, R., & John, O. (2011). The "CEO" of women's work lives: How Big

- Five conscientiousness, extraversion, and openness predict 50 years of work experiences in a changing sociocultural context. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *101*(4), 812-830. doi:10.1037/a0024290
- Gilbreath, B. (2012). Educating managers to create healthy workplaces. *Journal of Management Education*, 36(2), 166-190. doi:10.1177/1052562911430206
- Gronum, S., Verreynne, M-L., & Kastelle, T. (2012). The role of networks in small and medium-sized enterprise innovation and firm performance. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 50(2), 257-282. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2012.00353.x
- Groves, K., Vance, C., & Choi, D. (2011). Examining entrepreneurial cognition: An occupational analysis of balanced linear and nonlinear thinking and entrepreneurship success. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 49(3), 438-466. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2011.00329.x
- Gundala, R. R., & Khawaja, H. (2014). Brand management in small and medium enterprise: Evidence from Dubai, UAE. *Global Journal of Business Research*, 8(1), 27-38. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/gjbr.htm
- Haltiwanger, J., Jarmin, R. S., & Miranda, J. (2013). Who creates jobs? Small versus large versus young. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 95(2), 347-361. doi:10.1162/REST_a_00288
- Hamrouni, A., & Akkari, I. (2012). The entrepreneurial failure: Exploring links between the main causes of failure and the company life cycle. *International Journal of Business & Social Science*, *3*(4), 189-205. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com

- Harnish, D. A. (2012). Principals' leadership styles and student achievement (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3510284)
- Hays, D. G., & Wood, C. (2011). Infusing qualitative traditions in counseling research designs. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 89(3), 288-295.doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00091.x
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16(4), 98. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Heinze, I. (2013). Entrepreneur sense-making of business failure. *Small Enterprise Research*, 20(1), 21-39. doi:10.5172/ser.2013.20.1.21
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hudson, S. M., Newman, S. D., Hester, W. H., Magwood, G. S., Mueller, M., & Laken, M. A. (2014). Factors influencing hospital admissions and emergency department visits among children with complex chronic conditions: A qualitative study of parents' and providers' perspectives. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 37(1), 61-80. doi:10.3109/01460862.2013.85584
- Hutchinson, J. W., Alba, J. W., & Eisenstein, E. M. (2010). Heuristics and biases in
 Databased decision making: Effects of experience, training and geographical data
 displays. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 47(4), 627-642.
 doi:10.1509/jmkr.47.4.627

- Ivanov, S. (2011). Why organizations fail: A conversation about American competitiveness. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *4*(94), 110-116. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Izuma, K., & Adolphs, R. (2011). The brain's rose-colored glasses. *Nature Neuroscience*, *14*(11), 1355-1356. doi:10.1038/nn.2960
- James, S. (2010). Private equity and the entrepreneur. *Journal of Business & Finance Librarianship*, 15(3-4), 230-236. doi:10.1080/08963568.2010.489738
- Jasra, J. M., Khan, M. A., Hunjra, A. I., Rehman, R. A. U., & Azam, R. I. (2011).

 Determinants of business success of small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(20), 274-280. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Jonassen, D. (2011). Ask systems: Interrogative access to multiple ways of thinking. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 59(1), 159-175.

 doi:10.1007/s11423-010-9179-9
- Jones, K., Edwards, M., & While, A. (2011). Nurse prescribing roles in acute care: An evaluative case study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(1), 117-126. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05490.x
- Jones, O., & Jayawarna, D. (2010). Resourcing new businesses: Social networks, bootstrapping and firm performance. *Venture Capital*, 12(2), 127-152. doi:10.1080/13691061003658886
- Kazakov, S. (2012). What creates a successful entrepreneur? study of determinants of entrepreneurial survival and success. (Clark University). Dissertations and

- Theses, 161. Retrieved from http://gradworks.umi.com/35/10/3510572.html
- Keating, A., Geiger, S., & McLoughlin, D. (2013). Riding the practice waves: Social resourcing practices during new venture development. *Entrepreneurship Theory* and *Practice*, 38, 1207-1208. doi:10.1111/etap.12038
- Kim, S., Egan, T. M., Kim, W., & Kim, J. (2013). The impact of managerial coaching behavior on employee work-related reactions. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 28(3), 315-330. doi:10.1007/s10869-013-9286-9
- Kirsten, C. L. (2013). The impact of training courses on financial management skills of South African small-business owners. *International Business & Economics**Research Journal (IBER), 12(7), 825-834. doi:10.19030/iber.v12i7.7971.
- Kisely, S., & Kendall, E. (2011). Critically appraising qualitative research: A guide for clinicians more familiar with quantitative techniques. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 19(4), 364-367. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.562508
- Knockaert, M., Ucbasaran, D., Wright, M. & Clarysse, B. (2011). The relationship between knowledge transfer, top management team composition, and performance: The case of science-based entrepreneurial firms. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *35*(4), 777-803. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6520.2010.00405.x
- Kolb, S. M. (2012). Grounded theory and the constant comparative method: Valid research strategies for educators. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, *3*(1), 83-86. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com
- Kozan, M. K., & Akdeniz, L. (2014). Role of strong versus weak networks in small

- business growth in an emerging economy. *Administrative Sciences* (2076-3387), 4(1), 35-50. doi:10.3390/admsci4010035
- Labedz, C. S., & Berry, G. R. (2011). Making sense of small business growth: A right workforce template for growing firms. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 16(2), 61-79. Retrieved from www.huizenga.nova.edu/Jame/
- Lam, W. (2011). Dancing to two tunes: Multi-entity roles in the family business succession process. *International Small Business Journal*, 29(2), 508-533. doi:10.1177/0266242610376357
- Landgren, K., & Hallström, I. (2011). Parents' experience of living with a baby with infantile colic: A phenomenological hermeneutic study. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 25(2), 317-324. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6712.2010.00829.x
- LandLearn NSW. (2010). What is sustainability? Retrieved from http://www.landlearnnsw.org.au/sustainability/what-is-sustainability
- Larraneta, B., Zahra, S. A., & Gonzalez, J. L. G. (2012). Enriching strategic variety in new ventures through external knowledge. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 27(4), 401-413. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2011.11.004
- Lasch, K., Marquis, P., Vigneux, M., Abetz, L., Arnould, B., Bayliss, M., . . . Rosa, K. (2010). PRO development: Rigorous qualitative research as the crucial foundation. *Quality of Life Research*, *19*, 1087-1096. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9677-6
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

- Loscocco, K., & Bird, S. R. (2012). Gendered paths: Why women lag behind men in small business success. *Work and Occupations*, *39*(2), 183-219. doi:10.1177/0730888412444282
- Luo, H. (2011). Qualitative research on educational technology: Philosophies, methods and challenges. *International Journal of Education*, *3*(2), 1-16. doi:10.5296/ije.v3i2.857
- Lussier, R. N., & Halabi, C. E. (2010). A three-country comparison of business success versus failure prediction model. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 48(3), 360-377. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2010.00298.x
- Mach T. L. & Wolken J. D. (2012). Examining the Impact of Credit Access on Small Firm Survivability. Working Papers -- U.S. Federal Reserve Board's Finance & Economic Discussion Series, 1-37. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2051007
- Malchow-Moller, N., Schjerning, B., & Sorensen, A. (2011). Entrepreneurship, job creation and wage growth. *Small Business Economics*, *36*(1), 15-32. doi:10.1007/s11187-009-9173-y
- Mangal, V. (2013). Systems theory and social networking: Investigation of systems theory principles in web 2.0 social network systems. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, *3*(1), 117-133. Retrieved from http://www.ijbcnet.com
- Markova, G., Perry, J., & Farmer, S. M. (2011). It's all about the data: Challenges and solutions in the study of nascent entrepreneurs. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, 16(2), 169-198. doi:10.1142/S1084946711001781
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in

- qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*(1), 11-22. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McCuddy, M. K., Eser, Z., & Pinar, M. (2011). Exploring the connection between ethical issues in franchising business success and franchisees' demographic characteristics. *International Journal of Business Research*, 11(2), 101-116.

 Retrieved from http://www.facultyforum.com/ijbr/
- McFarland, C. & McConnell, J.K. (2012) Small business growth during a recession:

 Local policy implications. *Economic Development Quarterly*, 27(2), 102-113.

 doi:10.1177/0891242412461174
- McGrath, R. G. (2011). Failing by design. *Harvard Business Review*, 89(4), 76-83.

 Retrieved from http://hbr.org
- Mehrjerdi, Y. Z. (2011). Quality function deployment and its profitability engagement: A systems thinking perspective. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability*Management, 28(9), 910-928. doi:10.1108/02656711111172513
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). 'Is that what I said?' Interview transcript approval by participants:

 An aspect of ethics in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10(3), 231-247.
 - http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/index
- Miles, K. J. (2013). Exploring factors required for small business success in the 21st

- *century* (Doctoral Dissertations). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3560237)
- Mitchell, M. L., & Jolley, J. M. (2010). *Research design explained* (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Wadsworth
- Mitchell, K. R., & Wellings, K. (2013). Measuring sexual function in community surveys: Development of a conceptual framework. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50(1), 17-28. doi:10.1080/00224499.2011.621038
- Moeller, L. & Valentinov, V. (2012). The commercialization of the nonprofit sector: a general systems theory perspective. *Systematic Practice and Research*, 25(4), 365-370. doi:10.1007/s11213-011-9226-4
- Moore, P. (2011). Finding the funding. *NZ Business*, 25, 44-47. Retrieved from http://www.nzbusiness.co.nz/
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.
 BMC Medical Research Methodology, 14(1). 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Navis, C., & Glynn, M. A. (2011). Legitimate distinctiveness and the entrepreneurial identity: Influence on investor judgments of new venture plausibility. *Academy of Management Review*, *36*(3), 479-499. doi:10.5465/amr.2011.61031809
- Naylor, R. W., Lamberton, C. P., & West, P. M. (2012). Beyond the "like" button: The impact of mere virtual presence on brand evaluations and purchase intentions in social media settings. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(6), 105-120.

- doi:10.1509/jm.11.0105
- Neumark, D., Wall, B., & Junfu, Z. (2011). Do small businesses create more jobs? New evidence for the United States from the national establishment time series. *Review of Economics & Statistics*, 93, 16-29. doi:10.1162/REST_a_00060
- Ngozi, O. (2012) Current challenges facing small businesses: case of Brazil and the

 United States. *International Journal of Finance & Policy Analysis*, 8(7), 39-49.

 Retrieved from http://www.wbiconpro.com/412-Oriaku.pdf
- Ocak, M. A. (2011). Why are faculty members not teaching blended courses? Insights from faculty members. *Computers & Education*, *56*(3), 689-699. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2010.10.011
- O'Donnell, A. (2011). Small firm marketing: Synthesizing and supporting received wisdom. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 18, 781-805. doi:10.1108/14626001111179802
- Oleinik, A. (2011). Mixing quantitative and qualitative content analysis: Triangulation at work. *Quality & Quantity*, 45(4), 859-873. doi:10.1007/s11135-010-9399-4
- Ostlund, U., Kidd, L., Wengstrom, Y., & Rowa-Dewar, N. (2011). Combining qualitative and quantitative research within mixed method research designs: A methodological review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48(3), 369-383. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.10.005
- Patel, P. C., Fiet, J. O., & Sohl, J. E. (2011). Mitigating the limited scalability of bootstrapping through strategic alliances to enhance new venture growth. *International Small Business Journal*, 29(1), 421-447.

- doi:10.1177/0266242610396622
- Perry, A. S. (2012). *Determining the keys to entrepreneurial sustainability beyond the*first 5 years (Doctoral Dissertations). Available from ProQuest Digital

 Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3552594).
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, 17(5), 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Philip, M. (2011). Factors affecting business success of small & medium enterprises (SMEs). *Asia Pacific Journal of Research in Business Management*, *1*(2), 1-15. Retrieved from http://www.amity.edu/aibs/Researchpublication.asp
- Phipps, K. (2012). Spirituality and strategic leadership: The influence of spiritual beliefs on strategic decision making. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *106*(2), 177-189. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0988-5
- Plehn-Dujowich, J. (2010). A theory of serial entrepreneurship. *Small Business Economics*, 35(4), 377-398. doi:10.1007/s11187-008-9171-5
- Politis, D., & Gabrielsson, J. (2009). Entrepreneurs' attitudes towards failure: An experiential learning approach. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior* & Research, 15(4), 364-383. doi:10.1108/13552550910967921
- Prasad, S., Tata, J., & Guo, X. (2012). Sustaining small businesses in the united states in times of recession. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, *9*(1), 8-28. doi:10.1108/09727981211225626
- Pritchard, K. (2011). From "being there" to "being [...] where?": Relocating

- ethnography. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 6(3), 230-245. doi:10.1108/17465641111188402
- Rahmandoust, M., Norouzi, M., Ahmadian, S., Rast, S., Farhadi, E., & Shah, I. M.

 (2011). Introducing a systemic method for designing literature map in interdisciplinary researches: A case study on entrepreneurs' migration. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 56(1), 6-11. Retrieved from http://www.eurojournals.com/EJSR.htm
- Raye, J. (2012). Fractal organization theory. Retrieved from http://journals.isss.org/index.php/proceedings56th/article/viewFile/1796/663
- Reijonen, H., & Komppula, R. (2010). The adoption of market orientation in SMEs:Required capabilities and relation to success. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *18*(1), 19-37. doi:10.1080/09652540903511282
- Reppert, J. R. (2012). Organizational application of social networking information technologies. (University of Phoenix). (Dissertations and Theses, 119). Retrieved from http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2518653
- Rhoades, E. (2011). Commentary: Literature reviews. *Volta Review*, 111, 61-71.Retrieved from http://nc.agbell.org/page.aspx?pid=501
- Robinson, L. (2011). Dreaming of a small business?: don't forget the research. *Business Information Review*, 28(3), 193-198. doi:10.1177/0266382111421441
- Rocha Pereira, H. R. (2012). Rigour in phenomenological research: Reflections of a novice nurse researcher. *Nurse researcher*, *19*(*3*), 16-19. doi:10.7748/nr2012.04.19.3.16.c9054

- Rolfe, J. L. (2011). America's first entrepreneur. Philadelphia, PA: Rolfe.
- Ross, A., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2010). Mixed methods research design: A comparison of prevalence in JRME and AERJ. *International Journal of Multiple Research*Approaches, 4(3), 233-245. doi:10.5172/mra.2010.4.3.233
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35(3/4), 260-271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Rozas, L. W., & Klein, W. C. (2010). The value and purpose of the traditional qualitative literature review. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work*, 7(5), 387-399. doi:10.1080/15433710903344116
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Salas-Fumas, V., & Sanchez-Asin, J. (2011). Entrepreneurial dynamics of the selfemployed and of firms: A comparison of determinants using Spanish data.

 International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 12(3), 1-30.

 doi:10.1007/s11365-011-0178-z
- Sarti, D. (2014). Leadership styles to engage employees: Evidence from human service organizations in italy. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 26(3), 202-216. doi:10.1108/JWL-09-2013-0066
- Sawa, B., & Swift, S. (2013). Developing high-performing organizations: Keys to recruiting, retaining, and developing people who make the difference. *Leadership and Management in Engineering*, 13(2), 96-100. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LM.1943-5630.0000218

- Schaupp, L. C., & Bélanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. *Journal of Information Systems*, 28(1), 187–207. doi:10.2308/isys-50674
- Schweikart, L. (2011). Seven events that made America America: And proved that the Founding Fathers were right all along. New York, NY: Sentinel.
- Schweikart, L., & Doti, L. P. (2010). American entrepreneur: The fascinating stories of people who defined business in the United States. New York, NY: AMACOM.
- SCORE. (2011). Ask SCORE for business advice. Retrieved from http://www.score.org
- Seuring, S., & Gold, S. (2012). Conducting content-analysis based literature reviews in supply chain management. *Supply Chain Management*, *17*(5), 544-555. doi:10.1108/13598541211258609
- Shuck, B., & Herd, A. M. (2012). Employee engagement and leadership: Exploring the convergence of two frameworks and implications for leadership development in HRD. *Human Resource Development Review*, 11(1), 156-181. doi:10.1177/1534484312438211
- Simola, S. (2009). A service-learning initiative within a community-based small business. *Education & Training*, 51(7), 567-586. doi:10.1108/00400910910992763
- Sinfield, J. V., McConnell, B., Calder, E., & Colson, S. (2012). How to identify new business models. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *53*, 85-90. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Small, M. L. (2011). How to conduct a mixed methods study: Recent trends in a rapidly growing literature. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *37*(1), 57-86. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102657

- Smith, N., Drumwright, M. E., & Gentile, M. C. (2010). The new marketing myopia. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 29(1), 4-11. doi:10.1509/jppm.29.1.4
- Smothers, J. (2011). Assumption-based leadership: A historical post-hoc conceptualization of the assumptions underlying leadership styles. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 16(3), 44-59. Retrieved from http://www.whitneypress.com/jame/
- Soojin, J., Miso, K., & Joonhwan, L. (2011). The system diagrams: Shifting perspectives.

 Design Issues, 27(2), 72-89. doi:10.1162/DESI_a_00078-Jun
- Soriano, D. R., & Castrogiovanni, G. J. (2012). The impact of education, experience and inner circle advisors on SME performance: Insights from a study of public development centers. *Small Business Economics*, *38*(3), 333-349. doi:10.1007/s11187-010-9278-3
- Sparkes, A. C. (2014). Developing mixed methods research in sport and exercise psychology: Critical reflections on five points of controversy. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *16*, 49-59. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.08.014
- Stacey, R. (2011). *Strategic management and organizational dynamics*, (Custom ed.).

 Boston, MA: Pearson
- 'Stell' Kefalas, A. G. (2011). On Systems Thinking and the Systems Approach. World Futures: The Journal of General Evolution, 67(4/5), 343-371. doi:10.1080/02604027.2011.585911
- Stovall, S. A. (2011). Simeon North: A portrait of an early 19th century entrepreneur with 21st century HRM challenges. *Journal of Applied Management and*

- Entrepreneurship, 16(3), 34-43. Retrieved from http://www.huizenga.nova.edu/Jame/
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21(2), 160-175. doi:10.1057/ejis.2011.53
- Sullivan, D. M., & Marvel, M. R. (2011). Knowledge acquisition, network reliance, and early-stage technology venture outcomes. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(6), 1169-1193. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00998.x
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63-75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Tan, J., Fischer, E., Mitchell, R., & Phan, P. (2009). At the center of action: Innovation and technology strategy research in the small business setting. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 47(3), 233-262. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2009.00270.x
- Tasnim, R., Yahya, S., & Zainuddin, M. N. (2014). "I'm loving it!" what makes the successful entrepreneur affectively committed to entrepreneurial performance?

 **Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship, 19(2), 27-52. Retrieved from http://www.huizenga.nova.edu/jame/
- Teck-Hong, T., & Yong-Kean, L. (2012). Organizational commitment as a moderator of the effect of training on service performance: An empirical study of small- to medium-sized enterprises in Malaysia. *International Journal of Management*, 29(1), 65-76. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofmanagement.co.uk
- Tennyson, R., & Sisk, M. (2011). A problem-solving approach to management of

- instructional systems design. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 30(1), 3-12. doi:10.1080/0144929X.2010.490958
- Thomas, J. R., Nelson, J. K., & Silverman, S. J. (2011). *Research methods in physical activity* (6th ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Tirgari, V. (2012). Information technology policies and procedures against unstructured data: A phenomenological study of information technology professionals.

 Academy of Information & Management Sciences Journal, 15(2), 87-106.

 Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/
- Toson, L. R. (2012). Inspiring leadership through networking: Narrative study of women in middle management roles. (Doctoral Dissertations). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3494775).
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, *11*(1), 80-96. doi:10.1177/143325010368316
- Tundui, C., & Tundui, H. (2012). Survival, growth strategies and performance of women owned micro and small businesses in Tanzania. *International Journal of Business* and Management, 7(8), 143-155. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n8p143
- Ucbasaran, D., Sheperd, D.A., Lockett, A., & Lyon, S.J. (2012). Life after business failure: the processes and consequences of business failure for entrepreneurs. *Journal of Management*, 39(1), 163-202. doi:10.1177/0149206312457823
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2011). The 2011 statistical abstract. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2011). Strategic plan and updates. Retrieved from

- http://U.S. Small Business Administration.gov
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2012). Strategic plan and updates. Retrieved from http://U.S. Small Business Administration.gov
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2014). Strategic plan and updates. Retrieved from http://U.S. Small Business Administration.gov
- Valdiserri, G. A., & Wilson, J. L. (2010). The study of leadership in small business organizations: Impact of profitability and organizational success. *Entrepreneurial Executive*, *15*, 47-71. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/
- van Gelderen, M., Thurik, R., & Patel, P. (2011). Encountered problems and outcome status in nascent entrepreneurship. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 49(1), 71-91. doi:10.1111/j.1540-627X.2010.00315.x
- van Leir, B., & Hardjono, T. (2011). A systems theoretical approach to interoperability of information. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 24(5), 479-497. doi:10.1007/s11213-011-9197-5
- Vera, D., & Onji, K. (2010). Changes in the banking system and small business lending.

 Small Business Economics, 34(3), 293-308. doi:10.1007/s11187-008-9119-9
- Verner, J. M., & Abdullah, L. M. (2012). Exploratory case study research: Outsources project failure. *Information and Software Technology*, *54*(8), 866-886. doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2011.11.001
- Vernuccio, M. (2014). Communicating corporate brands through social media: An exploratory study. *Journal of Business Communication*, 51(3), 211-233.

- doi:10.1177/2329488414525400
- Viljamaa, A. (2011). Exploring small manufacturing firms' process of accessing external expertise. *International Small Business Journal*, 29(5), 472-488. doi:10.1177/0266242610390595
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1950). An outline of general systems theory. *British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, *1*, 134-165. doi:10.1093/bjps/I.2.134
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1972). The history and status of general systems theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 15(4), 407-426. doi:10.2307/255139
- Vroom, V. (2013). Expectancy theory. In E. Kessler (Ed.), Encyclopedia of management theory, 272-277. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc. doi:10.4135/9781452276090.n83
- Wadsworth, F. H., & Cox, K. (2011). Identifying risky franchises. *Journal of Marketing Channels*, 18(1), 43-55. doi:10.1080/1046669X.2011.533111
- Walker, J. L. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(2), 37-41. Retrieved from http://pappin.com/journals/cjcn.php
- Walters, S. J. (2010). Unions and the decline of U.S. cities. *Cato Journal*, *30*(1), 117-135.

 Retrieved from http://www.cato.org/pubs/journal/index.html
- Wang, J., & Shapira, P. (2012). Partnering with universities: a good choice for nanotechnology start-up firms? *Small Business Economics*, 38(2), 197-215. doi:10.1007/s11187-009-9248-9
- Weimer, T., Hartwiger, B., Walter, B., & Doerr, A. (2012). Customer service, ethics, and

- economics. Allied Academies International Conference. Academy for Economics and Economic Education. Proceedings, 15(2), 23-26.
- Welbourne, T., & Pardo-del-Val, M. (2009). Relational capital: Strategic advantage for small and medium-size enterprises (SMEs) through negotiation and collaboration. *Group Decision & Negotiation*, 18(5), 483-497. doi:10.1007/s10726-008-9138-6
- Welter, F. (2012). All you need is trust? A critical review of the trust and entrepreneurship literature. *International Small Business Journal*, 30(1), 193-212. doi:10.1177/0266242612439588
- Winterberg, B. (2013). Tools for digital age marketing. *Journal of Financial Planning*, 26(1), 32–33. Retrieved from http://www.onefpa.org/journal/Pages/default.aspx
- Yallapragada, R. R., & Bhuiyan, M. (2011). Small business entrepreneurships in the United States. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 27(6), 117-122. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/JABR
- Yin, R.K. (2012). *Applications of case study research* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Designs and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Zahra, S. A., & Wright, M. (2011). Entrepreneurship's next act. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25(4), 67-83. doi:10.5465/amp.2010.0149

Appendix A: Interview Protocol and Questions

- I. Introduce self to participant(s).
- II. Present consent form, go over contents, and answer questions and concerns of participant(s).
- III. Give participant copy of consent form.
- IV. Turn on recording device.
- V. Follow procedure to introduce participant(s) with pseudonym/coded identification; note the date and time.
- VI. Begin interview with question #1; follow through to final question.
- VII. Follow up with additional questions.
- VIII. End interview sequence; discuss member-checking with participant(s).
- IX. Thank the participant(s) for their part in the study. Reiterate contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from participants.
- X. End protocol.

Interview Questions

- 1. What characteristics must a small business owner possess in order to operate a sustainable business?
- 2. What strategies have contributed to your ability to sustain your business and become profitable for the past 10 years?
- 3. What do you believe is the single most important characteristic a business owner must possess in order to create a sustainable business?
- 4. What business strategies have you used to run a profitable business?

5. Is there anything else you want to share concerning the sustainability of your small business?

Appendix B: E-mail to Confirm Interview Transcript

Dear (Potential Participant's Name),

Thank you for your participation in my research study entitled "Small Business Strategies for Sustainability beyond 10 Years." I am emailing you to request your assistance in reviewing the transcript from our interview on (insert date).

I would like to speak with you within the next 72 hours to inquire if you have any changes to the transcript. Should this time frame not work for you please email me times that are more convenient for you in a reply to this e-mail.

Thank you again for your valuable time and participation.

Respectfully,

Gabriel E. Warren DBA Candidate Walden University

Appendix C: Recruitment Letter for Study Participants

[Date]

Re: Small Business Strategies for Sustainability beyond 10 Years

Dear [Name]:

My name is Gabriel Warren and I am currently a doctoral candidate in Business Administration - Marketing at Walden University. I am conducting research on the necessary factors required for small business success in Birmingham, AL. The study is entitled: "Small Business Strategies for Sustainability beyond 10 Years." I am interested in conducting this study to explore some small business owner's effective strategies to improve new and existing business owner's chances of success beyond 10 years.

I am seeking face-to-face interviews with small business owners who meet the following criteria:

- Owner must be the original owner who started the company
- Business must be at least 10 years old
- Business must be currently operating as an organization within Birmingham, Alabama.

I developed the study selection criteria to assure that participants are likely to possess knowledge and information that are relevant to the purpose of this study. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and you may withdraw at any time, even after I have completed data collection for the study. I will protect your identify, and your individual responses to interview questions will not be published or disclosed. All of your individual responses to questions will be recorded for analysis and reported in the study with no information that identifies you or your organization. I will share the findings from the study with study participants, other scholars, and the leaders within the participants' organizations.

I am requesting that you participate in my study. I will also contact you within the next 3 days to answer any questions that you may have and to ask for your participation. Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,

Gabriel E. Warren DBA Candidate Walden University